Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held
David Hicks 1 - Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40
1BN on WEDNESDAY 10 JANUARY 2018 AT 7.00 PM

Manjeet Gill
Interim Chief Executive
Published on 2 January 2018

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services

The Underpinning Principles
Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Tim Holton (Chairman)
John Jarvis
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

ITEM
NO.

WARD

John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman) Philip Houldsworth
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
Wayne Smith
Bill Soane

SUBJECT

66.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

67.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13
December 2017

68.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

69.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 10

70.

Arborfield

APPLICATION NO 172209 - ARBORFIELD CROSS
RELIEF ROAD, SWALLOWFIELD ROAD,
ARBORFIELD, WOKINGHAM
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

11 - 64

71.

Remenham,
Wargrave and
Ruscombe

APPLICATION NO 173097 - STROWDES, KENTON
LANE, UPPER CULHAM, RG10 8NU
Recommendation: Conditional Approval subject to
legal agreements

65 - 86

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CIL
R
LB
S106
F

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Community Infrastructure Levy
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission

MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Madeleine Shopland
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6319
madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 67.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 13 DECEMBER 2017 FROM 7.00 PM TO 8.50 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Tim Holton (Chairman), John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman), Philip Houldsworth,
John Jarvis, Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Wayne Smith
and Bill Soane
Councillors Present and Speaking
Councillors: Ken Miall
Officers Present
Connor Corrigan, Service Manager, SDL Planning Delivery
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highways Development Management
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Arabella Yandle, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist
Case Officers Present
Andrew Chugg, Development Management Team Leader
Vincent Healy, SDL Planning Delivery Solicitor
Christopher Howard, SDL Delivery Manager
Sophie Morris, Senior Planning Officer
57.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies
58.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 8 November 2017 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
Members' Update
59.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in item 63, application no
172366. He remained in the Chamber and he did not take part in the discussion or the
vote.
60.
APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
Item 64 application no 173049 was withdrawn by the applicant.
61.

APPLICATION NO 172450 - LAND WEST OF SHINFIELD, WEST OF HYDE END
ROAD AND HOLLOW LANE, SOUTH OF CHURCH LANE, SHINFIELD, RG2 9EP
Proposal: Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline planning permission
O/2010/1432 (pursuant to VAR/2014/0624) for the erection of 473 dwellings including
access roads, garages, parking spaces, open space and landscape treatment for Phase 2.
(Access, Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale to be considered)
Applicant: Bloor Homes, Linden Homes and Bovis Homes
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 11 to 50.

5

The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:




Proposed clarification in respect of garden depths;
Proposed amendments to road widths, road names and driveway surfacing, and
An explanation that the conditions should be renumbered by one from condition 5.

Nick Patterson-Neild, agent, spoke in favour of the application, explaining that the
application before the committee was the next phase in a major development that had
been approved in 2012. The application included 73 affordable homes and made
provision for the link roads, greenways and children’s play areas that were part of the
overall design.
In response to a Member question regarding the number of 3 and 4 bedroom properties in
this application, the Case Officer stated that there was a good balance of property sites
across the whole development. In response to Member queries regarding infrastructure,
he stated that flood amelioration measures were in place.
In response to a Member question regarding the use of garages, the Service Manager,
Highways Development Management, stated that residents would not be able to convert
carports to garages. Garages did not make up part of the allocated parking. 100% of the
properties had at least one allocated space with 437 of the 473 having two allocated
spaces.
In response to a Member question regarding the Nuclear Consultation Zone, the Service
Manager, SDL Planning Delivery, stated that there had been objection from the Health and
Safety Executive to the development. The outline application had been approved based
on original plans. New plans would be drawn up and should be taken into account in
emergency planning.
Resolved: That Application no 171250 be approved, subject to the conditions laid out in
Agenda pages 11 to 50, and the proposed clarifications and renumbering of conditions as
laid out in the Members’ Update.
62.

APPLICATION NO 172331 - MATTHEWSGREEN FARM, MATTHEWSGREEN
ROAD, WOKINGHAM RG41 1JX
Proposal: Application for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Outline
planning consent O/2014/2242 for the erection of a new Community, Primary and Nursery
school building with associated access off Road 24, parking and landscaping including the
provision of playing fields and hard court play area. Appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale to be considered.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 51 to 82.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:



Proposed amendment to condition 15 regarding art features and signage, and
Proposed additional condition regarding access to parking spaces.

6

Robert Millen spoke against the application on behalf of the Emmbrook Residents’
Association. He stated that the Association had two main concerns, namely external noise
and the net space. The former would exceed permitted levels and the latter was below
standard if the school was to become 2 form entry.
Piers Brunning, Wokingham Borough Council, applicant, spoke in favour of the application,
explaining the background of the application and how it fit into the wider development at
Matthewsgreen. He stated that the 21% shortfall in space only applied to the outdoor soft
play area and, if omitting the floating area that was recommended in school design, was
9%. He confirmed that the current proposal would be acceptable and comply with the
Department of Education guidance for schools.
In response, the Case Officer stated that acoustic data showed noise would be within
required limits internally. Externally, the negative impact of noise-mitigation measures that
would need to be taken to bring the noise levels down to those required would outweigh
the reduction in noise levels. It was not anticipated that the external areas would not be
used during peak noise times.
In response to Member queries regards parking, the Service Manager, Highways
Development Management, stated that there is a condition securing a parking
management plan that would need to be submitted and approved by the Council and
measures within this would be considered alongside the School Travel Plan. The barrier
that separated staff parking from the rest of the parking would be managed by the school
with controls for its use being secured within the Parking Management Plan. Parking
controls will be in place to prevent parking on the Northern Distributor Road and options
for this are currently being reviewed. The number of spaces allocated to the school met
Council standards for a 2-form entry school. The Council was pro-sustainable travel and
new developments within the borough incorporate this. The school had to meet targets as
part of its travel plan and would work with the Council to achieve this.
In response to Member queries regarding the shortfall in space relating to the two form
entry school (2FE), the Service Manager, SDL Planning Delivery, explained that the land
was owned by the developer and that there is no land available to increase the size of the
school. Any additional land would have to be acquired from the developer at market rates
(that is residential land value) as the development is only required to mitigate its own
impacts, in this instance a single form entry (1FE) school. This needs to be considered
against the fact that there is no certainty that the land would ever be required for education
use in the future. The school would also be able to make use of the public open space
land and the neighbourhood play area located directly adjacent the school site. . The
current application was for a single form entry school however with the capacity to be
converted to two-form entry if need arose in the future. The intention being that this would
not need a second application. The decision to allow expansion of schools was taken by
the Council after the SDL’s were adopted but this need would be taken into account for
future sites. The current application had been approved by Education colleagues and the
Department of Education.
Councillor Angus Ross proposed that the application be deferred for further discussion on
the basis that the amount of external space proposed for a possible 2 form entry school
did not meet DoE standards. The proposal was seconded by Councillor Rachel
Shepherd-DuBey.

7

Resolved: That application no 172331 be deferred to allow further discussion between
Education and the Planning Department.
63.
APPLICATION NO 172366 - 37 WILDERNESS ROAD, EARLEY, RG6 7RU
(Councillor Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in item 63, application
no 172366. He remained in the Chamber and he did not take part in the discussion or the
vote.)
Proposal: Householder application for the proposed erection of a part ground floor and
part first floor extension (including rear facing balcony) to the existing dwelling.
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Tahir Bashir
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 83 to 102.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included information regarding
the bat survey and a response to Earley Town Council regarding privacy screens.
Members visited the site on 8 December 2017.
Diana Hayes, resident, spoke against the application, stating that the only objection was to
the balcony and the degree to which it would lead to overlooking of the neighbouring
gardens and to noise.
Councillor Ken Miall, Ward Member, spoke against the application, asking the Committee
to consider what was reasonable and when did it become intrusive.
In response, the Case Officer stated that it was not considered that the amount of noise
would be an issue. If it were to be a problem, neighbours could contact Environmental
Health. There had been an application for a neighbouring house for a similar balcony,
which had been approved. It should be noted that rear garden areas were not afforded
protection similar to the immediate rear of properties and any overlooking would be the
same as first floor windows or rooms with Juliet balconies. Therefore, there were no
significant issues with loss of privacy.
Resolved: That application no 172366 be approved, subject to the conditions laid out in
Agenda pages 83 to 102, and the information as laid out in the Members’ Update.
64.
APPLICATION NO 173049 - 1 NELSONS LANE, HURST, RG10 0RR
Proposal: Householder application for the proposed raising of existing roof to create a
first floor and additional accommodation in roof space, erection of a single storey rear
extension, first floor side extension, removal of existing chimney stacks and changes to
existing fenestration.
Applicant: Mrs A Jenkins
This item was deferred at the request of the applicant
65.
WATERLOO ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Stopping up Proposal: Application for stopping up of Waterloo Road associated with the
Southern Distributor Road Eastern Gateway works (ref: 172934). The stopping up

8

application may be made under section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended) (“the 1990 Act”) to the Secretary of State for Transport to have the highway
stopped up or extinguished.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 83 to 102.
There was no update.
Resolved: That a submission to the Secretary of State for Transport of an application to
stop up Waterloo Road be approved.

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 70.
Application
Number
172209

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

31/01/2018 (PPA)

Arborfield

Arborfield

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Wokingham Borough Council C/O WSP
Swallowfield Road, Arborfield, Wokingham
Postcode n/a
Full application for the construction of a 2.3 KM Arborfield Cross
Relief Road (including shared use pathway) linking A327 Reading
Road in the north and A327 Eversley Road in the south east. The
proposal includes two new roundabout junctions link to the existing
road network along the A327, a new staggered priority junction at
Swallowfield Road and a new shared-use (non-motorised user) bridge
where Arborfield Footpath 17 intersects the proposed relief road.
Type
Full
PS Category
6
Officer
Nick Chancellor
Reason
for Major application
determination
by committee
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on January 10th, 2018
Assistant Director – Place Based Services

SUMMARY
The site lies in open countryside, bisecting Swallowfield Road and between the
settlements of Shinfield and Arborfield. The application is for the construction of a
2.3km Arborfield Cross Relief Road (including shared use pathway) linking A327
Reading Road in the north and A327 Eversley Road in the south east.
The proposal is known as the Arborfield Cross Relief Road (ACRR) and has been
submitted by Wokingham Borough Council for consideration by the Local Planning
Authority. The land is currently in multiple, private ownership and is not currently
controlled by the Council. Issues of land ownership fall outside of the planning process
and do not therefore form part of the assessment of this application.
The proposal has been screened in accordance with Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA) regulations and has been identified as EIA Development. The application is
informed by an EIA Scoping Opinion and, accordingly, is supported by an
Environmental Statement (ES).
The ACRR is an essential piece of infrastructure that is required to mitigate the impact
the effect of planned housing growth on the A327. The requirement for a relief road is
identified in the Wokingham Borough Council Core Strategy, Strategic Development
Location SPDs, Infrastructure Contributions SPD and subsequent planning permissions.
A route options appraisal process has been previously undertaken. Following a public
consultation process in 2013, a preferred route for progression was recommended. In
2014/15, further refinement exercises were undertaken to examine options within the
preferred route alignment. The outcome of these investigations was presented to
WBC’s Executive in March 2015 and forms the basis for the current application.
The application is submitted in full and includes details of the access, appearance,

11

landscaping, layout and scale. This report is based on an assessment of the application
against relevant policies in the Wokingham Borough Council Core Strategy, Managing
Development Delivery DPD, other relevant policy and EIA regulations.
PLANNING STATUS
 Countryside
 Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location SPD
 South of M4 Strategic Development Location SPD
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Ancient woodland within 500m of the site (Pound Copse, Long Copse)
 Listed Buildings – various within relatively close proximity, beyond site boundary
 Archaeological sites – known evidence of prehistoric activity in vicinity
 Local Wildlife Sites – Pound Copse and Spring Copse within close proximity
 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 5km zone
 Public Rights of Way – site intersected by ARBO17 & ARBO 22.
 Adjacent to high pressure gas pipeline
 Green route enhancement area (A327)
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Approved details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered in the table below. The development hereby permitted shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority.
Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Received

C1922-100 rev. B

Site Plan

31.08.2017

PLANNING_LOC_001 rev A

Highways Alignment Location Plan

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_010 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 1 of 6

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_011 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 2 of 6

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_012 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 3 of 6

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_013 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 4 of 6

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_014 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 5 of 6

19.07.2017

PLANNING_GA_015 rev A

General Arrangement - Sheet 6 of 6

19.07.2017

ACRR/STR/105 rev C

Green Bridge Outline General
Arrangement

19.07.2017

12

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
Detailed highway design
3. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of roads
and footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, depths of
construction, surface water drainage, road signage and lighting shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of
providing a functional, accessible, safe and high-quality development. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
Construction Environmental Plan
4. Construction work in each phase of the development hereby permitted shall not
begin until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), which will
detail the measures to be implemented to protect site workers, site users, ecology
and the environment arising from the construction of the Arborfield Cross Relief
Road, has been submitted for that phase to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall be implemented thereafter in accordance
with the approved CEMP. Each phase CEMP shall include the following matters:
i)

a construction travel protocol or Green Travel plan for the construction phase
including details of parking and turning for vehicles of site personnel, operatives
and visitors;
ii) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii) Piling techniques;
iv) Storage of plant and materials;
v) Programme of works (including measures for traffic management and operating
hours);
vi) Provision of boundary hoarding and lighting;
vii) Protection of important trees, hedgerows and other natural features;
viii) Relevant ecological mitigation measures for dormouse, bats, badger,
amphibians, reptiles, breeding birds, and invertebrates
ix) Details of proposed means of dust suppression, fume mitigation and noise
mitigation. The CEMP shall include a noise management plan that sets out how
construction noise will be minimised to protect residential amenity. Particular
attention should be given to protecting dwellings that are likely to be exposed to
high levels of construction noise as identified in the application noise and
vibration report
x) Details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during
construction;
xi) Details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings.
These facilities shall be sited away from woodland areas;
xii) Lighting on site during construction;
xiii) Measures to ensure no on site fires during construction;
xiv) Monitoring and review of the CEMP;
xv) Implementation of the CEMP through an environmental management system;
xvi) Details of the temporary surface water management measures to be provided
during the construction phase;

13

xvii) Details of the excavation of materials and the subsurface construction
methodology;
xviii) Details of the haul routes to be used to access the development; and
xix) Appointment of a Construction Liaison Officer.
Reason: To ensure the protection of site workers, site users, neighbouring
residents, ecology and the environment for the duration of works.
Hours of operation
5. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to commencement of construction of the Arborfield Cross Relief
Road, shall take place other than between the hours of 0730 and 1830 hours
Monday to Friday and 0730 to 1400 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays
or Bank or National Holidays, unless prior approval, in writing, is given by local
planning authority. Such prior approval shall only be granted for works which, in the
opinion of the local planning authority, cannot be undertaken during the above
hours for reasons of public safety; and /or would cause excessive traffic congestion
to the travelling public
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC06.
Environmental and Traffic Management Improvements
6. The road hereby approved shall not be opened for public use until a design for
environmental and traffic management improvements within Arborfield is submitted
to and approved in writing is given by the Local Planning Authority. Once approved,
this scheme shall be implemented in full no later than two years from the date of the
road opening for public use, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To maintain the highway network within Arborfield village for local use.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP18.
Flooding and Drainage
7. No development shall take place until full details of the drainage system for the site
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The details shall
include:
i)
ii)
iii)

iv)
v)

Results of intrusive ground investigation demonstrating seasonal high
groundwater levels for the site and infiltration rates in accordance with BRE365.
Demonstration that the base of SuDS features are at least 1m above seasonal
groundwater level.
Full calculations demonstrating the performance of soakaways or capacity of
attenuation features to cater for 1 in 100 year flood event with a 40% allowance
for climate change and runoff controlled at Greenfield rates, or preferably better.
A drainage strategy plan for the proposed development, including swale, basin
and outfall details with invert levels and cross sections.
A maintenance management plan for the SuDS features throughout the lifetime
of the development, as well as who will be responsible for the maintenance.

Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant

14

policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
Landscaping
8. Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed site levels
or contours, means of enclosure, other vehicle and pedestrian access, hard
surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, signs, lighting,
external services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan,
specification (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable.
Soft landscaping details shall also include locations for retained or restored wildlife
habitat, and quantified ecological compensation measures (demonstrating that the
rate is sufficient to replace anticipated losses).
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any
trees or plants that, within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or
become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of species, size and number as originally approved and
permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy
CP3, CP7 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Acoustic Barrier
9. Prior to commencement of development, further details of any acoustic barrier that
is proposed to be constructed as part of this scheme shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority and approved in writing. The scheme shall thereafter be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the setting of designated heritage assets and in the interests
of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies, CC03, TB21 & TB24.
Retention of trees and shrubs
10. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on the
approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in
any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning authority;
any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the
development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants
of similar size and species unless the local planning authority gives written consent
to any variation
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site, which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.

15

11. Protection of trees
a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be
implemented in complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the
duration of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by the
Approved Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree
pruning, demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or
widening or any other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or
construction machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence
until the local planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice)
with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of
the measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works, which are part of the Approved Scheme, shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including
external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning
authority has first been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and other
works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Landscape Management
12. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
detailing long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules, including for all ongoing ecological mitigation and
compensation measures, for all landscape areas, other than privately owned,
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as
approved
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance
of the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3,
CP7 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21

16

Lighting
13. Prior to commencement of the development, a “lighting design strategy for
biodiversity” for light sensitive species shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The strategy shall:
a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and
that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their resting places or along
important routes used to access key area of their territory, for example for
foraging; and
b) Show how and where external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species
using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting places.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in
accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other
external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning
authority.
Reason: To maintain favourable conservation status of the site for protected
species and species of principal importance. Relevant policy: Core Strategy Policy
CP7.
Archaeology
14. No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or successors in
title have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation
in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by
the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The mitigation
strategy will provide for:
i.

A programme of site investigation and recording

ii.

A programme of post investigation assessment, analysis, publication,
dissemination and archiving. This part of the condition shall not be discharged
until these elements of the programme have been fulfilled in accordance with the
programme set out in the WSI
Reason: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential as identified by
archaeological evaluation. Further work is required to ensure that any
archaeological remains within the site are adequately investigated and recorded or
preserved in situ in the interest of protecting the archaeological heritage of the
borough.

Informatives:
1. For the avoidance of doubt, the definitive application red line site boundary is as
specified by plan number C1922-100 rev. B “Site Plan”, received by the Local
Planning Authority on 31.08.2017.
2. The northern junction with the A327 (Reading Road) has been fully assessed by the
Local Planning Authority as a 3-arm roundabout and as a 4-arm roundabout; both

17

options are shown within plans hereby approved. This planning permission allows
the developer to implement either option.
3. The installation of a green bridge within this scheme offers a unique learning
experience (for the broader benefit of highway design) and an opportunity for the
local authority to enhance its reputation for innovation to secure ecological benefit.
The developer is strongly encouraged to consider implementing a pre and post
construction monitoring programme to assess efficacy of this feature as a bat
commuting route. Please contact the WBC Ecology Officer
duncan.smith@wokingham.gov.uk for further information or clarification.
4. The developer is encouraged to explore opportunities for the de-culverting of the
watercourse running adjacent to the A327 at the northern roundabout junction. The
results of the culvert CCTV survey indicates that the culverts have failed, which
increases flood risk during heavy rainfall events. This also offers an opportunity to
incorporate the watercourse in to the site drainage in a more sustainable way and
one, which would require less maintenance to ensure passage of water.
5. This development may require an Environmental Permit from the Environment
Agency under the terms of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales)
(Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2016 for any proposed works or structures, in,
under, over or within 8 metres of the top of the bank of designated ‘main rivers’.
This was formerly called a Flood Defence Consent. Some activities are also now
excluded or exempt. An environmental permit is in addition to and a separate
process from obtaining planning permission. Further details and guidance are
available on the GOV.UK website: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activitiesenvironmental-permits#
6. The applicant is advised to apply to Environmental Health for ‘prior consent’ under
s.61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of construction site
noise
7. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information
contact the Highway Authority on tel.: 0118 9746000
8. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise
disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any
utility to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s
Street Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months
in advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works
so as to minimise disruption.
9. There is a high pressure gas pipeline in the vicinity of the works. Method
statements must be agreed before works commence. The proposals require the
exact location of this pipeline and other Southern Gas Networks (SGN) assets to be
located before any work commences, either by electronic detection or by hand

18

excavated trial holes as specified in the attached SW/2 document. These works
must be supervised by an SGN representative, please contact David Jordan on
07778136887 / dave.jordan@sgn.co.uk to arrange a pre-works site visit and any
future supervision.
10. The nearby gas pipeline is of prime importance to the gas supplies of this area. It is
essential that the developer comply with the restrictions detailed below and in the
document SGN/WI/SW/2 in order to protect SGN plant and equipment and to
maintain the safety of construction operatives. A SGN representative must be
contacted before any works commence. Further guidance / restrictions are detailed
below:
1) No mechanical excavation is allowed within 3 metres either side of pipeline.
SGN High Pressure Gas Pipelines in the vicinity of your works
2) No plant or storage of equipment shall be made within any easement strip.
3) If any metallic pipes or cables are being laid in proximity to gas pipelines then
interference testing will be required, the cost of which to be borne by the promoter
of the works. A minimum clearance of 600mm is required.
4) All precautions stated in publication SGN/WI/SW/2 (Safe Working in the Vicinity
of High Pressure Gas Pipelines) shall be fully complied with in all respects.
Acceptance of SGN/WI/SW/2 shall be acknowledged by the responsible site person
signing and returning the form Appendix A to the SGN representative contacted in
(7).
5) No thrust boring shall take place within three meters of the pipeline.
6) All planting within the easement strip should comply with ‘Notes for Guidance on
Tree Proximity’.
7) Before commencing work on site, you must contact our Pipeline Maintenance
Section on the number above at least seven days before work commences. A
Southern Gas Networks representative will then contact you to arrange to visit site.
Details of working near to high-pressure gas pipelines can then be discussed.
8) Pipeline sections that are planned and agreed by SGN to be permanently
covered (i.e. by road surface) will require a coating survey. SGN will repair any
indicated coating defects free of charge. The survey costs will be borne by the
promoter of the works. Prior to any surface cover cathodic protection coupons and
reference cells will require installation at no cost to SGN.
9) This pipeline is cathodically protected and as such has test cables located in test
posts. Were these to be lost through this work we would look to the developer for
remedial action at no cost to SGN.
10) Intrusive construction methods will require an agreed method statement prior to
work starting.
11) Any extended period of SGN site supervision may incur charges to the
developer. These will be charged based on visiting times, materials and
occurrences. The developer will be informed when these come into effect and be
invoiced direct.
12) Any piling or boreholes within 15 metres of the pipeline may require vibration
monitoring. No piling or boreholing must take place within 3 metres of the pipeline.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
Decision
SO/2015/1073
Application for a Scoping Opinion to EIA
Development
–
determine the content of an advised
on
required

19

170433

Environmental Impact Assessment
for proposed Arborfield Cross Relief
road, land west of Eversley Road
Full application for the proposed
extraction
and
processing
of
approximately 3.6 million tonnes of
sand and gravel from a site of 190
ha, known as land south west of
bridge farm, together with erection
of an aggregates processing plant,
ready mix concrete plant and the
provision of associated ancillary
infrastructure and parking for HGV's
and staff, with mixed restoration
including
importation
of
inert
material to agriculture, lowland
meadows and wetlands. Proposed
temporary diversion of public
footpath 20 for the duration of
operations

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area:
Previous land use:

Proposed land use:

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Hampshire County Council
Reading Borough Council
Berks, Bucks and Oxon Wildlife Trust

Historic England

content of Environmental
Impact
Assessment.
Replied 21/07/2015.
Live application, decision
pending.

21.5ha
Predominantly agricultural. Site intersects
public
highway
(Swallowfield
Road,
Milkingbarn Lane) and two Public Rights of
Way (ARBO22 & 17).
Public
highway,
including
vehicle
carriageway, cycleway and footway.

No objection
No objection
Recommends
conditions
to
ensure
permeability of existing badger habitat,
monitoring use of green bridge by bat
populations, off site mitigation to conserve
farmland birds. Application required to
demonstrate net gain in biodiversity.
[OFFICER NOTE: BBOWT comments have
been considered and addressed by Ecology
Officer. Various ecology conditions are
recommended.
“Historic England has no objection to the
application on heritage grounds … less than
significant harm to heritage assets.”
Advises that when determining this
application the local authority should weigh
this harm against public benefit, as set out
in paragraph 134 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF).

20

No objection – recommends conditions
requiring a programme of archaeological
mitigation in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation, prior to
commencement.
No objection
No objection
No comments received
Development is adjacent to gas pipeline #
P6067. The exact location of the pipeline
be located before work commences, subject
to procedure – refer to informatives.
[OFFICER NOTE: No excavation are
proposed within the immediate proximity of
the pipeline. Informatives are specified.
No comments received
Not consulted – the proposal does not affect
Thames Water infrastructure.
The impact in terms of ecological habitats
and protected species is acceptable subject
to conditions to secure implementation of
varies measures as specified. Various
conditions recommended.

Berkshire Archaeology

Loddon Valley Ramblers
National Grid
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Southern Gas Networks

SEE Power Distribution
Thames Water
WBC Biodiversity

WBC Conservation Officer

No objection. Identifies that harm (less than
significant) will be caused to heritage assets
– the development is acceptable if there is a
clear and convincing justification of the
public benefits.
[OFFICER NOTE: the
nature of the application is such that it
provides a clear and convincing justification]
No objection.
Recommends condition
requiring full details site drainage system
prior to commencement.
No objection.
Recommends conditions
requiring a noise management plan and
control of dust / construction noise.
No
objection.
Recommends
various
conditions.
No objection.
Recommends conditions
requiring details of acoustic fencing, site
levels, retention/protection of existing trees,
a landscaping scheme and landscape
management plan.
No objection

WBC Drainage

WBC Environmental Health

WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape

WBC Public Rights of Way
REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council:
Arborfield Parish Council

“Arborfield and Newland Parish Council welcome the submission of proposals for the
construction of the Arborfield Cross Relief Road, and the opportunity to comment on

21

them. The Council has a number of concerns, however, that it wishes to see addressed:
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

This Council has made representations, repeatedly, about the importance of the
mitigation measures as a means of protecting nearby residents against the negative
impacts arising from operation of this major road, especially in view of the revisions
made in 2014 without consultation. Specifically, we request the reinstatement of 3m
high bunds in the Greensward Lane and Highfield Park areas of the scheme to
protect residential properties against increased noise, as originally approved and
promised.
We have also advised against the adopted staggered crossroads junction at
Swallowfield Road, preferring the original proposal for a roundabout on road safety
grounds, notwithstanding the likely beneficial effect of traffic reduction in
Swallowfield Road and across the entrance to Arborfield Park. A commitment to
present an assessment of the roundabout alternative as part of the Environmental
Statement has not been honoured.
This Council has asked repeatedly for clarification of the proposed traffic operations
on the southern approaches to the scheme, in order to establish the traffic
management arrangements necessary to prevent the revised junction arrangements
leading to more Arborfield Green traffic continuing to use the existing A327 through
Arborfield Cross village.
The Council is also concerned about the effective operation of 4 roundabouts in
close proximity (Poperinghe, Relief Road, Langley Common, and Biggs Lane), and
requests that this combination be modelled in detail to identify traffic issues
associated with future operation.
The proposed speed limit of 50mph is inappropriate for a road with an uncontrolled
crossing at Arborfield Footpath 22, and for a staggered crossroads. The originally
adopted proposal for a 40mph speed limit should be restored.
Planting schemes should consist of specimens of reasonable size, so as to reduce
to practical minimum the period required for the scheme to reach maturity. We note
that the long-term impact of the scheme allows 15 years for development, which is
far too long.
Planting proposed for the area between the new southern terminus roundabout and
nearby properties will need to be further reviewed in order to minimise the visual
impact of the view along the new road. A denser planting scheme is needed that
provides more effective screening.
Six veteran trees, cherished by the community as important heritage assets, are
scheduled for removal. It would appear, from the scheme drawings, that there is
scope to retain some of these veteran trees, which would require special protection
during construction. We urge Wokingham Borough Council to review this potential.
We further urge Wokingham Borough Council to progress this scheme without
delay. The programmed opening date has slipped by 2 years in the last 4, whilst
development of Arborfield Green and other sites along the A327 continues apace.”

[OFFICER COMMENTS]:
Noise / screening
Earth bunds have not been included in the application, although were shown in earlier
pre-application consultation versions of the plans. Noise and visual impact has been
considered as part of the Environmental Impact Assessment process. In the case of
Greensward Lane, visual impact has been mitigated through the provision of tree and
hedgerow planting, complementing the existing screening provided by Pound Copse.
The noise impact will be reduced by tree and hedgerow planting. The EIA considered
whether engineered noise barriers would be appropriate adjacent to Greensward Lane.

22

The benefits of doing so were found to be negligible – this has been balanced against
the visual impact and deemed, on balance, not to be necessary. At Highfield Park, EIA
noise modelling indicates there will be negligible change and no mitigation is deemed
necessary.
Central junction
Officers have had regard to the views of the parish council. However, it is the view of
the Local Planning Authority that a staggered junction will provide the best overall
solution as it minimises land take, avoids the need to fell additional mature trees and
minimises ecological impact. A roundabout junction would draw more through-traffic,
undermining the ‘relief’ benefits offered by a new road.
Traffic Management
The relief road would be classified as the A327, thereby declassifying the existing route
through Arborfield Cross. All existing signage along the approach will be reviewed in
order to direct traffic along the new road. The applicant intends to limit signage into the
village to “B3030, Winnersh and “local traffic”. Traffic management and environmental
improvements within Arborfield village will also be undertaken. The Council has
undertaken to engage with Arborfield Parish Council on the details of these measures –
condition 6 refers.
Impact on junctions
Detailed traffic modelling was undertaken within the Transport Assessment and has
demonstrated that there will not be a significant detrimental impact on any nearby
junction.
Speed limit
The relief road is designed for a speed limit of 50mph, supporting the attractiveness of
the route over its alternatives, thereby further relieving traffic within Arborfield Village.
Road Safety Audits, taking into account the uncontrolled pedestrian crossing and
staggered junctions, have not raised speed as being cause for concern. Thames Valley
Police have been consulted and, due to the nature of the road itself, will not support a
lower 40mph speed limit.
Landscape Design
The detail of landscaping is to be secured by condition, with full details provided at a
later date. The scheme will be subject to approval by the Tree and Landscape officer.
However, it should be noted that landscape planting will inevitably take time to mature
and a 15 year period is not considered unreasonable in this regard. A number of
mature trees are shown to be planted in the vicinity of Baird Road in order to provide
screening to the roundabout where appropriate.
Loss of mature trees
The road alignment has sought to minimise the loss of mature trees, for example, by
proposing a staggered junction at Swallowfield Road instead of a roundabout.
However, it is accepted that some trees will need to be felled. The landscape officer is
satisfied with the proposals and the level of replacement planting. Tree protection
measures for retained trees are proposed - condition 11 refers.
Barkham Parish Council
“The Parish Council is not happy with the proposed plans for the southern end of the by-

23

pass. There will be five roundabouts in very quick succession (Biggs Lane, A327
Bramshill Hunt, The Relief Road, Poppyfields and the SDL); this is only going to
discourage residents from using the by-pass route. Residents travelling from
Watermans View in the direction of Wokingham will undoubtedly turn right from Biggs
Lane into Langley Common Road to avoid all the roundabouts. Therefore creating a lot
of traffic along Langley Common Road. The Parish Council would like further
discussions with WBC as to how to address the situation and if improvements can be
made here.”
[OFFICER COMMENTS]:
Waterman’s View residents travelling in the direction of Wokingham will naturally use
Langley Common Road, as this is the most direct route. However, many residents
travelling in the direction of Shinfield are likely to use the proposed Relief Road. As well
as mitigating the impact of the Arborfield and South of M4 SDLs, the ACRR is intended
to provide benefits to users of the A327 more generally, by providing a faster route.
Detailed traffic modelling was undertaken within the Transport Assessment and has
demonstrated that there will not be a significant detrimental impact on any nearby
junction or route, including Langley Common Road.
Swallowfield Parish Council
Swallowfield Parish Council find the plan for the Arborfield Cross Relief Road impacting
our Parish acceptable.
We consider the provision of shared pathways allowing cyclists, pedestrians and horse
riders a good addition to the design.
The green bridge is also a good design feature for the Relief Road.
Also, the provision of badger tunnels providing a crossing point for wildlife another good
feature.
We think the imposition of a 50mph speed limit good, and the design of the staggered
junction, allowing good vision and entry runways onto the road.
We feel a staggered junction safer than crossroads, however, as a 50 mph road, we
request consideration given in the Road design for adequate road markings and
signage warning of the staggered junction.
[OFFICER NOTE: the road design has been subject to a stage 1 road safety audit,
which did not raise any significant safety issues. Detailed consideration will be given to
road markings and signage as part of the highways technical approval (s.278) process;
this would follow on from a planning permission]
Local Members: No comments received
Neighbours: 4 letters received in support of the proposals
16 letters / emails received objecting to the proposals, summarised as follows:
Hydrology
 The application has the potential to negatively impact private ground water supply for
Arborfield Court reducing groundwater levels, flow and quality [OFFICER NOTE: this

24

is addressed in the later section of this report, sub-titled “Arborfield Court – Private
Water Supply”]
Flood Risk
 The ACRR may increase flood risk at Greensward Lane and Church Lane
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in the later section of this report, sub-titled
“Flooding and Drainage”]
Landscape
 Road will have a detrimental impact on landscape character
 Green Bridge is essential for landscape mitigation
 Road will detract from rural character
 Trees proposed for removal along Swallowfield Road could be retained
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in the later section of this report, sub-titled
“Trees and Landscape”]
Ecology
 ACRR will cause harm to ecology.
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in the later section of this report, sub-titled
“Ecology”]
Route Alignment , Design
 The original pre-application consultation on route options was flawed
 Traffic modelling underpinning the route options consultation was flawed
 Low noise road surface is necessary
 ACRR does not require separate roundabout on Eversley Road – Langley Common
Road roundabout could be utilised instead. [OFFICER NOTE: the alignment has
been subject to consultation and a subsequent refinement exercise. The planning
application alignment, which proposes a new roundabout junction, is considered
appropriate].
 Requests footway along existing A327 so as to link to Shinfield ERR [OFFICER
NOTE: this pertains to land outside the planning red line boundary. Additional
footways are not required to make this application acceptable in planning terms and
therefore fall outside of the scope of what can be assessed for the purposes of this
application].
 Inconvenient for cyclists using Swallowfield Road, proposed alternative route is
significantly longer. Suggests central refuse island to allow a more direct crossing.
 Staggered junction design at Swallowfield Road may not be safe given road speed
 50mph speed limit not appropriate – suggests lowering to 40mph
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in later sections of this report, sub-titled
“Principle of Development”, “Access and Movement”]
Public Rights of Way
 Protection (central refuge island) needed for pedestrians crossing the road at
intersection with ARBO22.
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in later sections of this report, sub-titled
“Public Rights of Way”]
Security
 A number of residents comment that the ACRR may pose a security risk for their
property given existing permeable boundaries.

25

[OFFICER NOTE: the proposed relationship and proximity of the road to residential
properties would not be atypical and is not considered to result in an unacceptable
security risk].
Amenity
 ACRR likely to give rise to increase in noise levels for various existing properties
[OFFICER NOTE: it is acknowledged that the development may result in a ‘high’ level
of impact for a number of properties – this is addressed in the Environmental Health
section below]
 ACRR likely to affect house-prices/saleability of existing properties [OFFICER NOTE:
this is not a planning issue and therefore cannot be taken into consideration in the
decision making process]
 Construction likely to take a long time / be disruptive.
 Construction compound likely to cause pollution / nuisance to local residents
[OFFICER NOTE: comments addressed in later sections of this report, sub-titled
“Environmental Health”, “Residential Amenity” and “Heritage”].

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP8

Thames
Basin
Protection Area

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP10

Improvements
to
Transport Network

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

Adopted Managing Development CC01
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

Heaths

the

Special

Strategic

CC03

Green
Infrastructure,
Landscaping

CC06

Noise

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

TB24

Designated Heritage Assets

TB25

Archaeology

26

Trees

and

TB26
Infrastructure
Delivery
Contributions SPD

Buildings of Traditional Local Character
and Areas of Special Character

and

Arborfield
Garrison
Strategic
Development Location SPD
South of M4 Strategic Development
Location SPD

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development:
1. Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to
provide at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and
infrastructure in the period 2006-2026. The majority of this new residential
development will be in four SDLs.
2. Core Strategy Policy CP18 is amplified by Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the
Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD, which address
the associated infrastructure impacts across the borough. These documents
establish the requirement for a mixed-used development and make clear that a coordinated approach to the development of the SDL will be required to deliver the
necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of the expanded community.
3. CP18 makes specific reference to the need for improvements to the A327 in
conjunction with the Arborfield SDL, while the Infrastructure Contributions SPD
refers to a new route to bypass Arborfield Cross. The need for a relief road was
identified through detailed work in support of planning permissions for both the
South of M4 SDL and Arborfield Garrison SDL, both of which were approved
subject to planning obligations that will contribute to the overall cost of an Arborfield
Cross Relief Road (ACRR).
4. Traffic modelling indicates that housing growth will severely impact the existing
A327 prior to 2026. Therefore, the ACCR is expected to be delivered either in
advance of, or concurrently with the proposed developments within the Arborfield
and South of M4 SDLs.
5. A route options appraisal process has previously been undertaken by WBC.
Following a public consultation process in 2013, a preferred route for progression
was recommended. In 2014/15, further refinement exercises were undertaken to
examine options within the preferred route alignment. The outcome of these
investigations was presented to WBC’s Executive in March 2015 and a preferred
option was approved to progress to preliminary design / planning application stage.
6. The current application seeks full planning permission for an Arborfield Cross Relief
Road. The principle of development is both identified within and supported by the
Development Plan as an essential piece of infrastructure required to support
ongoing development within the South of M4 and Arborfield Strategic Development
Locations. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable in principle, subject to

27

consideration of the detail for access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.
7. The proposal has been screened in accordance with Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) regulations and has been identified as EIA Development. The
application is informed by an EIA Scoping Opinion and, accordingly, is supported by
an Environmental Statement (ES).
Description of Development:
8. The site lies in open countryside, bisecting Swallowfield Road and between the
settlements of Shinfield and Arborfield. The ACRR would connect the A327
Reading Road at its northernmost extent, down to the A327 Eversley Road at its
southernmost.
9. Just south of the Reading Road within the northernmost section of carriageway, the
proposed alignment crosses an unnamed tributary of the River Loddon. After
crossing arable land, the carriageway crosses Milkingbarn Lane and its adjacent
ditches. The alignment then continues through arable land including crossing a
hedgerow until Swallowfield Road, where a junction is proposed. The road would
then continue through arable land to a ridgeline, across more arable land and under
electricity pylons before joining Eversley Road at its southernmost extent.
10. The alignment would be a single carriageway, approximately 2.3km in length and
approximately 7.3m wide. In addition to the proposed highway, the scheme
includes improvements for pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians, including the
provision of a shared use 3m wide pathway alongside the eastern side of the
carriageway.
11. Roundabouts connecting to the existing road network are proposed at either end of
the road. To enable access to Swallowfield Road, a staggered priority junction
would be provided, with priority given to traffic travelling along the proposed route.
To enable pedestrians and cyclists to use the ACRR, a 3m wide footway and cycle
way will be provided on the northern side together with a pedestrian crossing where
the ACRR bisects Footpath ARBO 22. This crossing will be situated 600m
southeast of the northern junction
12. In addition, a Green Bridge is proposed at the location where the alignment bisects
Footpath ARBO 17, 350m south-east of the staggered junction at Swallowfield
Road. This bridge will provide all non-motorised users – pedestrians, cyclists and
equestrian - with a grade-separated crossing.
13. Considerable landscaping is proposed to mitigate the landscape and visual impact
on the character of the area. Sensitive lighting, if deemed necessary at technical
design stage, would be provided at the proposed northern and southern junctions,
the details of which are subject to Local Highway Authority approval through the
technical design / approval process (S278), and is also controlled by recommended
conditions 3 and 13. No lighting is proposed at the central staggered junction.
Access and Movement:
14. The planning application is supported by a Transport Assessment. The document
has fully assessed the nature and extent of transport impacts together with any
cumulative impact associated with known future development. Potential traffic
resulting from gravel extraction operations at Farley Farms (subject to planning

28

permission) has also been taken into account.
15. The assessment draws upon modelling data derived from the Wokingham Strategic
Transport Model 3 and takes into account the SDL developments together with onsite infrastructure provision and known off-site transport interventions. The base
year is 2010 and the model was developed to represent average weekday AM peak
hour (08:00 - 09:00), Inter peak hour (average 10:00 – 16:00) and PM peak hour
(17:00 - 18:00).
16. The forecast years used for this development were 2019 and 2026. It is accepted
practice to carry out an assessment 15 years after the opening year of 2019,
however it was agreed to assess 2026 as being in line with the end of the current
Local Plan period.
17. The following existing junctions were assessed using the standard junction
modelling tools:








A327 Arborfield Road / B3349 School Green / A327 Hollow Lane roundabout;
A327 Reading Road / Greensward Lane priority junction;
A327 Reading Road / Church Lane priority junction;
Arborfield Cross - B3349 School Road / A327 Eversley Road / Swallowfield
Road/ A327 Reading Road / Sindlesham Road roundabout;
Sindlesham Road / Church Lane / Mole Road Priority junction;
A327 Eversley Road / Langley Common Road / Baird Road / A327 Eversley
Road roundabout; and
Swallowfield Road / Greensward Lane priority junction.

18. Traffic modelling has considered each junction at a base year (2015), assumed
opening year (2019) and a future design year (2026) i.e. once the SDLs have been
substantially completed. The assessments concluded that each junction would
benefit from the introduction of the ACRR, none more so than the Arborfield Cross
roundabout. The operation of this junction would improve significantly which would
be expected as through traffic would be diverted away from Arborfield Cross and
onto the ACRR - flows through the village would fall from around 2,500 vehicles
(two way peak hour) to around 800 vehicles (two way peak hour) by 2026. This
reduction in traffic would lead to improvements in noise and air pollution and
improving the environment for pedestrians and cyclists.
Proposed gravel extraction at Farley Farms
19. The Local Planning Authority is currently in the process
of assessing a planning application for the proposed
extraction and processing of 3.6 million tonnes of sand
and gravel from a 190ha site on land south west of
Bridge Farm. The site is partly contiguous with the
current planning application for an Arborfield Cross
Relief Road.
20. The ACRR application was submitted after the Cemex
application, though has come before the planning
committee in advance of it. The ACRR proposal does
not preclude possible future mineral extraction on the wider Farley Estate; however,
there are implications for what might be extracted in the vicinity of the road, should it

29

come forward in advance of Cemex operations. These are commercial, rather than
planning considerations and are not relevant for the determination of the ACRR
application. However, it is anticipated that there will be further dialogue between
the Local Planning Authority, Wokingham Borough Council and Cemex prior to the
determination of the Cemex application at planning committee.
21. Sensitivity testing has been undertaken to assess the impact of traffic that would
result from the Cemex development, were this to be approved and implemented.
Regardless, none of the assessed junctions would be expected to be over capacity
by 2026.
Northern roundabout junction – A327 Reading Road
22. In the event that mineral extraction does not take place on the Farley Estate, the
ACRR could be delivered with a 3-arm roundabout at its northern junction with A327
Reading Road. However, in considering cumulative impacts the Transport
Assessment has also assessed a 4-arm scenario, also detailed in the application,
which could provide a dedicated new access to the gravel extraction site, if
required. Both roundabout options feature a designated uncontrolled pedestrian
crossing on the southern arm. The Cemex application is being considered
separately and on its own merits; however, a grant of planning permission for the
ACRR would allow either roundabout option to be implemented.
23. The Transport Assessments has demonstrated that the northern roundabout would
operate successfully. Were to be granted planning permission in future, operational
traffic generated by the mineral extraction site would, subject to a 4-arm roundabout
and based on officers’ current understanding of the traffic forecasts, not have an
adverse impact on the operation or safety of the northern junction, or on any other
part of the ACRR.
Central staggered junction – Swallowfield Road
24. The central junction provides an intersection between the ACRR and Swallowfield
Road. The applicant given detailed consideration to the design of this junction,
concluding that a staggered priority junction is the optimal solution. Following a
detailed design process, the possibility of a roundabout junction was discounted – a
rationale is provided in table 4.1 of the Transport Assessment.
25. Officers agree with the applicant’s conclusions in this regard. In summary, a
roundabout is likely to have required lighting and had negative implications for land
take, neighbouring properties, existing mature trees and ecology. A roundabout
would also have led to increased traffic flows along Swallowfield Road, making it a
more attractive route for east-west traffic and undermining the ‘relief’ benefits for
Arborfield village.
26. A resident has commented that cyclists using Swallowfield Road will be
inconvenienced by the staggered junction, and suggests that a central refuge island
is introduced to facilitate crossing, rather than relying on the Green Bridge.
Although a ‘splitter island’ would be present in this location, is it is not possible to
introduce a formal central crossing island due to the road and junction design.
However, it is not anticipated that every cyclist approaching via Swallowfield Road
would opt to utilise the Green Bridge; many users are likely to traverse the
staggered junction itself. Therefore, the ACRR would not result in a significantly
increased journey times for all cyclists.

30

27. The proposed staggered priority junction has been fully assessed using swept path
analysis and is considered to be a safe, acceptable solution. Officers are satisfied
that a large vehicle can manoeuvre safely at each stage. Visibility splays meet
national standards and provide users with appropriate site lines. The staggered
junction component is therefore acceptable, subject to implementation of traffic
management and environmental improvements within Arborfield Cross in order to
further discourage through-traffic. The Council is committed to implementing such
measures, following engagement with the Parish Councils and the Local Planning
Authority. Condition 6 refers.
Southern roundabout junction – A327 Eversley Road
28. The ACRR would connect to the A327 Eversley Road at its southernmost extent.
The design provides for an uncontrolled pedestrian crossing off the northern arm.
The junction is appropriately designed.
Speed, lighting and highway safety
29. The design speed proposed during earlier pre-application consultation was 40mph.
However, following liaison with the police, a speed of 50mph was assessed as
being more appropriate. The ACRR is intended to be an attractive, efficient route
for road users and the characteristics of rural road environment have few features to
slow vehicles down naturally. The police considered that a speed of 40mph would
have been impractical to enforce. A 50mph speed limit has been assessed as safe
and is therefore considered to be appropriate.
30. In order to maintain the rural night time character of the area and safeguard
protected species, street lighting is not proposed along the main section of the
ACRR. However, lighting is likely to be required at the roundabout junctions with
Reading Road and Eversley Road (subject to the detailed highways design through
the s278 process, which follows on from a planning consent). Should it be required,
sensitively-designed lighting could be specified and would be acceptable in planning
terms. Specifications for highway lighting are controlled by recommended
conditions 3 and 13.
31. High reflective road markings, high quality road studs and illuminated signs and
bollards are proposed along the alignment. No lighting is required for the green
bridge and footpaths to avoid attracting night time activity where natural surveillance
would be at a minimum. No lighting would be installed at the staggered junction;
this is in line with DfT guidance for a junction of this type in a rural location.
32. Swept path analysis has been carried out for all three junctions. This analysis has
demonstrated that large vehicles would be able to manoeuvre safely.
33. The Transport Assessment is supported by an independently assessed Stage 1
Road Safety Audit and did not identify any significant issues. Future stages in the
Road Safety Audit process would be carried out at later stages.
34. Therefore, the road alignment, layout and design is considered to be acceptable.
Public Rights of Way:
35. The site is crossed by two Public Rights of Way – Footpath 17 (ARBO17) and
Footpath 22 (ARBO22).

31

36. Footpath 17 begins in Arborfield Cross on Eversley Road and continues for
approximately 1.6km in a south-westerly direction past Arborfield Court and Spring
Copse towards Great Copse where it connects with Byway 15. ARBO17 traverses
an existing ridgeline, which was set to be reduced by up to 6.5m, creating a cutting
in accordance with design standards. As originally envisaged, this would have
required a permanent diversion of the footpath to meet with a new at-grade
carriageway crossing. However, following pre-application discussions with the
Local Planning Authority, a ‘green bridge’ has been included in the plans. The
bridge is capable of accommodating horses, cyclists, badgers and bats, whereas a
standard bridge would not have been suitable for horses or as an ecological link.
User-groups were consulted on the proposal at pre-application stage and have
welcomed the Green Bridge component.
37. Footpath 22 is around 700m in length, and begins in Arborfield on Greensward
Lane, continuing along the western edge of Pound Copse before turning south west
and connecting with Footpath 20.
38. A local resident has commented that a central refuge island is necessary to protect
ARBO22 footpath users. However, the crossing is not raised as concern in the
Road Safety Audit. A refuge island is not considered necessary on highway safety
grounds and is therefore acceptable in planning terms.
39. No permanent diversion or stopping up of either PROW is required. The Ramblers’
Association and PROW officer raise no objection to the application.
Character of the Area:
40. From a landscape perspective, the site can be divided into roughly two halves – to
the north between Reading Road and Swallowfield Road, and to the south between
Swallowfield Road and Eversley Road. Land to the north is comprised
predominantly of large to medium-sized fields under intensive farming, with
occasional small woodland blocks, which results in a relatively open character. Land
to the south in contrast is comprised of smaller fields, supporting both arable and
pasture farming, interspersed with a number of small woodland block. Field
boundaries across the site are of varying quality, with some formed of hedgerows in
good condition with numerous mature hedgerow trees; and others comprised of
post and wire fencing and/or unconnected remnant hedgerows.
41. The northern section is largely flat, gradually rising from around 45m Above
Ordnance Datum (AOD) at Reading Road, to around 60m AOD where it reaches
Swallowfield Road. The topography then rises more steeply as the route travels
south east towards a peak of 80m AOD some 430m south east of the Swallowfield
Road junction before declining to a level of around 62m AOD at the A327 Eversley
Road in the south east
42. The site is also crossed by two existing roads/lanes – Swallowfield Road, located
roughly at the centre, and Milkingbarn Lane further to the north. These roads
connect Arborfield Cross and Arborfield respectively to the agricultural land to the
south-west and are lined by a number of mature trees, a number of which are
identified as veteran specimens. These well-treed lanes are a characteristic feature
of the local landscape.

32

43. The wider landscape is relatively well wooded, with a number of small woodland
blocks and copses, particularly to the south and west. Notable areas of woodland
include Spring Copse and Long Copse to the south and Pound Copse to the north.
Long Copse and Pound Copse are designated as Ancient Woodland. In addition, a
notable area of woodland surrounds Arborfield Court located to the south-west of
Arborfield Cross.
Trees and Landscape:
44. Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 require a high quality design that respects its
context. This requirement is amplified by MDDLP Policies CC03 and TB21 which
require development proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s Green
Infrastructure (including designated Green Routes such as the A327), retaining
existing trees, hedges and other landscape features wherever possible and
incorporating high quality - ideally native – planting as an integral part of any
scheme, within the context of the Council’s Landscape Character Assessment.
45. It is inevitable that a new road on this scale will result in some harm to the existing
landscape. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) forms part of the
application submission and has assessed the visual impact of the development from
key visual receptors and from a variety of different representative viewpoints. The
impact is also assessed in term of the initial construction and once the development
is complete and operational.
46. The development will result in some significant visual effects during the construction
phase from a number of key sensitive visual receptors, including residential
properties and users of the Public Rights of Way.
47. In the longer term, the effect is greatly reduced as a result of proposed mitigatory
planting measures to soften the visual impact of the road, helping to integrate it
within the landscape.
48. One such primary measure is the proposed inclusion of a green bridge
corresponding to alignment of the ARBO17 Public Right of Way. The design of the
bridge has evolved through pre-application consultation with the LPA and in
response to concerns about the potential impact of a more conventional bridge
design on the landscape. The green bridge features a curved horizontal profile,
which widens at either end. The vertical alignment integrates with the existing
natural ridgeline, meaning that it will continue the line of the localised natural ridge.
When combined with tree planting across the structure on either side of the
footpath, the visual impact of the road cutting from the north and south is greatly
reduced.
49. Elsewhere along the road, the landscape proposal is to reinstate and strengthen
lost or declining hedgerows along the route. This will help to reinforce the rural
character of the landscape and screen or soften views of the road from key visual
receptors. It is also proposed to plant strips and blocks of native deciduous trees;
again, softening or screening views of the road. Highway verges and embankments
would be seeded with species rich grass, helping to increase habitats and
biodiversity.
50. Some significant landscape effects during the operational phase are predicted to
occur in the short-medium term. However, following the establishment of the

33

proposed mitigation measures, these would be minimised in the medium-long term.
At year 15, following the establishment of woodland and hedgerow planting, the
long-term effects on visual receptors is expected to reduce to between moderate
adverse to minor adverse. Therefore, no significant residual visual effects are
expected in the long term.
51. The Landscape Mitigation Plans provide sufficient information on the type of
planting proposed along the length of the relief road at this stage. Detailed
landscape plans (to be implemented in conjunction with an extended maintenance
contract) would need to be agreed with the LPA prior to commencement.
Conditions 8 and 12 refer.
52. The alignment of the road has avoided the most significant individual trees and
groups of trees, and where specimens are shown to be removed, substantial
replacement planting is indicated as part of the landscape proposals. Retained
trees and hedges would be protected during the construction process and
protection of existing trees and hedges are also recommended. Conditions 4 and 11
refer.
53. An acoustic fence that is proposed in the vicinity of Arborfield Court will require
further consideration in terms of its visual appearance and siting. Condition 9
refers.
54. In summary, the impact of the ACRR is considered to be acceptable in landscape
terms; the benefits of the road, subject to mitigation, are considered to outweigh the
harm.
Heritage:
55. The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 establishes a
statutory duty to consider the effect on heritage assets: development should
preserve or enhance the character and setting of listed buildings. In considering
designated heritage assets, the NPPF (Para 132) requires ‘great weight to be given
to the asset’s conservation’, and that any harm should require ‘clear and convincing
justification’. The MDD Local Plan (TB24) requires that ‘…works to or affecting
heritage assets or their setting to demonstrate that the proposals would at least
conserve and, where possible enhance the important character and special
architectural or historic interest of the building.’
56. There are no statutorily designated assets or conservation areas located within the
immediate site boundary. Arborfield Cross Conservation Area is located
approximately 800m to the north-east - this comprises the nucleus of the Arborfield
Cross settlement and the northern section of Eversley Road. Views towards the site
from the core of the conservation area are generally restricted by intervening builtform within the village. One of the benefits of the ACRR would be to reduce the
amount of vehicle traffic through Arborfield Cross, improving the setting of the
conservation area. Recommended condition 6 requires implementation of
environmental and traffic management improvements (subject to consultation with
parish councils) within two years of the road opening.
57. There are a number of listed buildings and scheduled ancient monuments located
nearby. Since the application Environmental Statement was first submitted, further
consideration has been given to Landscape, Visual, Noise and Vibration impact on

34

two listed buildings – Barlett’s Farmhouse and White’s Farmhouse. Both of these
heritage assets have subsequently been scoped in to the Environmental Statement
(ES), meaning that the impact has been assessed.
Bartlett’s Farmhouse
58. Barlett’s Farmhouse is sited on the southern side of Swallowfield Road,
approximately 400m to the south-west of the proposed scheme. The building dates
to the 16th century and its immediate setting is comprised of agricultural land. From
the east, the buildings are isolated and are evocative of a post-medieval agricultural
settlement set in closes. Its wider setting is that of a rural landscape of irregular
fields interspersed with narrow lanes and trackways. As an example of a relatively
isolated rural farmstead with a historic functional relationship with the surrounding
landscape, the setting makes a substantial contribution to the significance of the
asset in terms of its historic value.
White’s Farmhouse
59. White’s Farmhouse is a heritage asset of high significance located opposite
Bartlett’s Farmhouse, on the north side of Swallowfield Road, approximately 400m
south-west of the Proposed Scheme. It dates to the 18th century. The asset is
enclosed by the treeline and surrounding farm buildings (a mixture of modern and
late 19th/early 20th century barns and sheds) and is set back from the road creating
a sense of isolation and seclusion. Like Bartlett’s Farmhouse, the property is as an
example of a relatively isolated rural farmstead with a historic functional relationship
with the surrounding landscape; the setting therefore makes a substantial
contribution to the significance of the asset.
60. In the case of both Bartlett’s and White’s farmhouses, the presence of intervening
buildings and mature trees would reduce the visibility of the ACRR, especially
during periods when tree foliage is dense. However, since the road would pass at
grade (and on a low embankment approximately 400m to the north-east of the
asset), it would still be visible. At night the proposed lighting at the northern
roundabout would be largely imperceptible; however, light from passing vehicles
would be visible.
61. Both properties face each other across Swallowfield Road and are equidistant from
the proposal. The noise level indicated by modelling indicates there will be a net
reduction in noise on Swallowfield Road (relative to predicted level) and that this
benefit (i.e. avoiding an increase in traffic noise on Swallowfield Road – which both
properties front directly on to) is greater than the traffic noise introduced in relation
to the proposed new road, 400m to the north.
62. In summary, the noise and light from associated traffic on ACRR would detract
somewhat from the overriding rural character of the setting of both assets. It is
predicted, however, there will be little net noise effect as a result of the
development. The mitigation proposed would not entirely offset the impact and
consequently there is still likely to be a minor direct, permanent, long-term residual
effect on the setting of both heritage assets. The impact is assessed as being “less
than substantial” and can therefore be acceptable subject to a clear and convincing
justification of the wider public benefits.
Arborfield Court
63. This is a Grade II listed heritage asset of high significance located approximately

35

100m north-east of the proposed ACRR. It is a former large country house dating to
1904 that has been divided into two residential units. The close proximity of the
property to the village creates a link between the old settlement north of Church
Lane to the expanded village to the east of Arborfield Court. The residential property
was originally built within enclosed grounds, offering privacy and seclusion, and was
set back from the road to Arborfield. It retains its secluded and tranquil setting
today.
64. The immediate setting of the asset is similarly tranquil. It is well set back from
Swallowfield Road, and is screened by tall, mature trees and hedging. The wider
setting is an agricultural rural landscape, on the western fringe of a semi-rural
village. The setting contributes positively to the significance of the asset, in terms of
its historical, evidential and aesthetic values. The development will result in some
minor negative impact to the setting of the building; however, a noise barrier is
proposed along this stretch of the road, which will mitigate the impact to some
degree. The impact is assessed as being “less than substantial” and can therefore
be acceptable subject to a clear and convincing justification of the wider public
benefits.
Ducks Nest Farm
65. Duck’s Nest Farmhouse is Grade II listed and therefore of high significance. The
contribution of setting to the asset’s significance is moderate to minor. The main
elevation faces south-west towards the proposed southern section road, with views
over agricultural land. The local topography is such that the land is undulating and
views towards the ACRR are undulating but noticeable. Some modern buildings
interrupt the directness of these views.
66. The setting of the asset may be affected by increases in light and movement,
however, the presence of new screening will reduce this affect, while sensitive
lighting at the southern roundabout (controlled by condition) would further reduce
the impact. The overall resulting harm is considered to be less than substantial and
can therefore be acceptable subject to a clear and convincing justification of the
wider public benefits.
67. Both the WBC Conservation officer and Historic England have assessed the
planning application submission and subsequent ES addendums. It is agreed that
the development would result in some negative impacts in terms of noise and light.
Although this would cause a degree of harm to designated heritage assets, in each
case this is assessed as being “less than substantial” in NPPF terms. Development
that results in less than substantial harm nevertheless requires a clear and
convincing justification. In this case, the wider public benefits of a new road are
considerable, and include relieving the current and predicted volume of traffic
through designated heritage assets at Arborfield Cross (Conservation Area and
roadside listed buildings). On this basis, and despite the less than substantial harm
to the listed buildings, the development is acceptable in heritage terms.
Flooding and Drainage:
68. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new
development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all
sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a sustainable
manner.

36

69. The proposed ACRR falls entirely within Flood Zone 1 where the risk of flooding is
low. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment, Drainage Strategy
and Environmental Statement. The indicative Surface Water drainage strategy
demonstrates that the proposed scheme will be drained via a network of swales,
which will be underlain by filter trenches, discharging to two attenuation basins
adjacent to the road alignment.
70. Overland flow routes would be intercepted by the road structure, but the attenuation
proposed will cater for the 1 in 100 flood event with a 40% allowance for climate
change prior to controlled discharge into existing drainage ditches. One infiltration
test demonstrated borderline infiltration – additional trial pits will be required along
the length of the road.
71. The development is acceptable in drainage terms subject to further ground
investigation surveys, demonstration of SUDs feature levels, calculations
demonstrating soakaway performance, and a drainage strategy and maintenance
plan. Condition 7 refers.
Arborfield Court – private water supply:
72. Residents at Arborfield Court have expressed concern that construction of the
ACRR may negatively impact upon a private water supply utilised by these
properties. Arborfield Court receives its primary water supply from a spring fed
tank. The supply is known to have run dry on previous occasions.
73. Chapter 13 of the Environmental Statement considers the potential effect of the
road on the Arborfield Court spring fed water supply, concluding that the overall
effects are expected to be 'negligible'.
74. As part of its investigations, the applicant - the Council - has undertaken research
on the known history of the supply arrangements, which are considered to be
potentially sensitive, particularly in summer months when the supply has previously
run dry. Ground monitoring has been undertaken through onsite boreholes to better
understand the maximum groundwater levels, so as to inform the drainage design
for the proposed adjacent cutting.
75. The applicant has requested data from the Arborfield Court Management Company
on water consumption, so as to correlate against historic and on-going ground water
monitoring data. This data is required in order to understand the potential impact of
the road (however unlikely) on the Arborfield Court water supply. To date, no such
data has been received by the applicant.
76. Although the overall effect of the development has been assessed as negligible, the
applicant has undertaken to keep the situation under review in case it were to
transpire that the ACRR were to effect the water supply. Monitoring of groundwater,
which began in December 2016, will continue until after the development is
completed. It is understood that WBC will continue to liaise with Arborfield Court
Management Company over this period.
Environmental Health and Residential Amenity:
77. Core Strategy Policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high quality
of design that does not cause significant detriment to the amenities of adjoining land

37

users and their quality of life. The application Environmental Statement includes
detailed assessment of noise, vibration and air quality.
Construction Noise and Vibration
78. Noise during the construction phase has been predicted using methodology in
BS5228:2009+A1:2104, demonstrating that the impact on the majority of sensitive
receptors will be negligible if standard ‘best practicable means’ for the control of
noise are employed.
79. However for The Lodge, New Cottage and dwellings in Baird Road; additional
measures such as site hoarding and localised screening will be required to reduce
the potential impact to ‘negligible’ during the construction phase. Localised
screening at The Lodge will not be as effective and a short term ‘moderate’ impact
is predicted of “perhaps no more than a day”. Condition 4 refers.
Operational Noise
80. The operational impact of the proposed ACRR has been assessed for both the
short and long term. Comparison has been made with short term ‘do minimum’
(DM) ‘do something’ (DS) impacts at 33 sensitive dwellings (Arborfield Court
including The Lodge and Arbery Way) the magnitude of change, prior to mitigation,
is predicted to have “direct, temporary, short term effect of moderate significance.
There are 10 dwellings where, prior to mitigation measures, there is predicted to be
a temporary, short term effect of major significance, prior to mitigation measures.
81. A 3m high acoustic barrier is proposed along the footpath north of the road between
the Swallowfield Road junction and the proposed green bridge at PROW ARBO17.
The barrier would achieve a noise reduction in the region of 2dB. Although a
modest reduction, it may reduce the impact on some receptors at Arborfield Court
from ‘high’ to ‘medium’.
82. The use of bunding / screening has been explored but this has been ruled out as
being ineffective at most locations.
83. The road is proposed to have a 50mph speed limit and would be constructed with a
low noise surface. Were the speed limit to be limited to 40mph, this would negate
the benefits of the low noise surface, which are only realised with higher road
speeds. The rationale for a 50mph speed limit is discussed in paragraph 29.
84. The impact of the ACRR on sound levels at Arborfield Court will be below the lower
limit (50dB) of what is considered acceptable for new residential development
across the Borough.
85. On balance, the proposed mitigation is considered to be sufficient to mitigate the
operational noise impacts of the ACRR.
Air quality
86. Chapter 4 of the ES includes an assessment of dust and fumes arising from
construction activity. Oxides of nitrogen and particulates (PM10 and PM2.5) have
been assessed.
87. In terms of construction dust and fumes, the impact will be negligible if controlled in
a proper manner. Accordingly, a Construction Environmental Management Plan is

38

proposed – condition 4 refers.
88. The Air Quality assessment concludes that there will be decreases and increases in
concentrations of NOx PM10 and PM2.5 associated with the new road. However,
there will be no significant impact on the Air Quality objectives overall and no
mitigation measures are considered necessary.
Ecology:
89. Core Strategy Policy CP7 requires appropriate protection of species and habitats of
conservation value. Design Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of
ecological habitat and biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts
that do arise.
90. The ecological baseline status of the site and wider area been established through
desk and field survey. A range of sites, habitats and species were considered in the
Environmental Statement; including statutory and non-statutory wildlife sites ancient
woodland, habitats of principal importance, badger, bats, birds, reptiles and Great
Crested Newts.
91. An Ecological Impact Assessment has evaluated ecological features within 250m of
the road alignment in terms of the potential effects during the construction and
operational phases of the development, taking into account the various mitigation
measures that are proposed.
92. In summary, while there are likely to be some moderate adverse effects to habitat
during the short term construction phase, there will be residual positive ecological
benefits in the longer term as a result of habitat creation. Other proposed mitigation
measures, such as the Green Bridge and badger tunnels, would ensure that the
road does not sever commuting routes. Therefore, the development would not have
a significant effect on receptors.
Protected species
93. The surveys so far completed, Environmental Statement and subsequent dialogue
with the applicant has established that the risk to protected species and species of
principal importance can be adequately mitigated. Various measures are secured
by condition – 4, 8, 12 and 13 refer.
Hedgerow
94. The Environmental Statement identifies that circa 465m of hedgerow will be lost at
various points along the proposed alignment. Unmitigated or compensated, this
would result in habitat fragmentation and a net loss for biodiversity. However, the
landscape mitigation proposals include the creation of circa 2,790m of new
hedgerow running parallel to the road and connecting to hedgerows that have been
severed. Over time, this will adequately compensate for the initial loss.
95. The inclusion of a green bridge between Spring Copse and the mature woodland
around Arborfield Court provides an open crossing point for terrestrial animals safe
from road traffic and mitigates the loss nearby hedgerow. The inclusion of
additional tree planting at other hedgerow crossing points will help provide safer
high crossing routes for bats in the long-term. Condition 8 ensures that
replacement hedgerow planting will be species rich and appropriately spaced

39

Spring Copse
96. A triangle of approximately 100m2 in the north-eastern most tip of Spring Copse will
be lost or subject to significant ground level alteration. While this is a small
proportion of the Copse (0.5% of the overall area), the loss is significant
nonetheless. However, this would not compromise the ecological integrity of the
wider woodland.
97. The landscape strategy proposes a greater amount of new woodland planting to act
as a buffer between the remaining ancient woodland and the ACRR. The new
planting will go some way to providing a larger, less fragmented (within the
landscape) and more ecologically stable woodland unit in the long-term.
98. Nevertheless, the road would be constructed within a cutting at this point in the
alignment, and this has the potential to impact hydrology within the Copse, with
possibly negative implications for ground flora. However, this can be compensated
by introducing suitable ground flora species within the new buffer woodland areas.
Condition 8 refers.
Net gain for biodiversity
99. NPPG para 109 requires development to provide net gains for biodiversity where
possible. A Biodiversity Metric Assessment addendum to the Environmental
Statement has demonstrated that habitat creation is likely to give rise to a net gain
to biodiversity. While some improvements are not on a like-for-like basis (i.e. loss of
farmland), the mitigation is balanced and would provide a variety of new and
valuable habitat.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
100. The application has been assessed in terms of its potential impact of particulates on
the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) and the Bramshill and
Castle Bottom to Yateley and Hawley Commons Sites of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSIs). Natural England have confirmed that Predicted Environmental
Concentrations would not have an adverse impact on designated sites.
Archaeology:
101. MDD Policy MB25 requires applicants to provide a detailed assessment of the
impact on archaeological remains. If development is likely to affect an area of high
archaeological potential or an area, which is likely to contain archaeological
remains, the presumption is that appropriate measures shall be taken to protect
remains by preservation in situ. Where this is not practical, applicants shall provide
for excavation, recording and archiving of the remains.
102. Archaeological trial trenching and survey work has been undertaken in support of
the planning application. An evaluation of the results has identified the site of an
Iron Age / Early Roman settlement towards the centre of the route. This area also
seems to have been the focus for later medieval activity as well. The possible
location of a Cold War era Royal Observer Corps Monitoring Post has also been
identified. These monitoring posts consisted of concrete below ground bunkers. The
documentary records suggest that this post was demolished and the evaluation
identified an area of demolition material, however it remains unknown as to whether
any of the bunker remains intact below ground at this stage. Limited evidence for
archaeological activity was recorded at either end of the route, but did include an
undated ditch and a possible cremation burial.

40

103. Berkshire Archaeology have advised that further phases of investigation, including
excavation of the settlement site are required in advance of the commencement of
construction works. The development is therefore acceptable in archaeology terms.
Conditions 14 refers.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL):
104. The proposal is infrastructure development and therefore is not CIL liable.

CONCLUSION
The ACRR would provide an essential piece of infrastructure that is required to support
the Council’s planned approach to development within the wider area.
The development provides for a safe, functional and well-landscaped scheme, in
keeping with the Council’s spatial strategy. Appropriate mitigation is proposed to
overcome impacts, where necessary. The application complies with Development Plan
polices and can therefore be recommended for approval.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services
Enclosures:
1) Site plans
2) Parish Council Comments

41

This page is intentionally left blank

Notes
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

This drawing to be read in conjunction with the Highways GA
and Landscape Chapter of the Environmental Statement
All dimensions are in millimetres unless otherwise stated.
The GA drawing is based on a precast arch system.
Guardrails to be an appropriate colour in order to reduce
potential visual impact.
Guardrails to incorporate a semi-buried mesh fence to DMRB
to guide badgers/mammal movement across the bridge.
Slopes to be sown with a low-maintenance species rich
grassland mix.
The coordinate reference points were taken from drawing No.
ACRR/SK/006.

43

This page is intentionally left blank

45
Notes
1. Do not scale from this drawing.
2. Red line boundary based upon Ordnance
Survey Data. Reference should be made to
Ordnance Survey data for boundary details.

This page is intentionally left blank

, printed on 29 June 2017 09:31:12 , by Iulia Margin

BRIDGE FARM
G

R

E

E

N

S

W

A

R

D

L

A

N

E

ARBORFIELD
COURT

ARBORFIELD
GARRISON

47

File name G:\#WOKINGHAM HIGHWAY ALLIANCE\MAJOR PROJECTS\ARBORFIELD CROSS RELIEF ROAD\5 PLANNING APPLICATION\DRAWINGS\AUTOCAD\PLANNING APPLICATION SUBMISSION\PLANNING_GA_010.DWG

Public right of way ARBO17

Public right of way ARBO22

Place & Neighbourhood
Services PO Box 153
Shute End
Wokingham
G40 1WL, UK
T+ 44 (0) 118 974
6000 F+ 44 (0)
118 974 6313

PLANNING APPLICATION

c WSP UK Ltd

This page is intentionally left blank

49
PLANNING APPLICATION

c WSP UK Ltd

This page is intentionally left blank

REFE

/GA/013
UATION

FOR CONTIN

G
019939/PLANNIN
R TO DRG NO. 70
1010.000

1000.000

990.000

980.000

970.000

960.000

950.000

940.000

930.000

920.000

910.000

900.000

890.000

880.000

870.000

860.000

850.000

840.000

830.000

820.000

810.000

800.000

790.000

780.000

770.000

760.000

750.000

740.000

730.000

720.000

710.000

700.000

690.000

680.000

670.000

660.000

650.000

640.000

630.000

620.000

REFER TO IN
SET ABOVE

REFER TO INSET BE

REFER

TO DR

G NO.

TION
39/PLA

700199

LOW FOR CONTINUA
620.000

610.000

600.000

590.000

580.000

570.000

560.000

550.000

540.000

530.000

520.000

510.000

500.000

490.000

480.000

470.000

460.000

450.000

440.000

430.000

420.000

410.000

400.000

390.000

380.000

370.000

360.000

350.000

340.000

330.000

320.000

310.000

300.000

290.000

280.000

270.000

260.000

250.000

240.000

230.000

51

c WSP UK Ltd
PLANNING APPLICATION

NNING
/GA/01
1

This page is intentionally left blank

S

REFER TO DRG NO. 70019939/PLANNING/GA/014

REFER TO DRG

NO. 70019939/PLA

NNING/GA/012

Proposed 3m high
acoustic fence

1400.000

W

1390.000

1380.000

1370.000

1360.000

1350.000

1340.000

1330.000

1320.000

1310.000

1300.000

1290.000

1280.000

1270.000

1260.000

1250.000

1240.000

1230.000

1220.000

1210.000

1200.000

1190.000

1180.000

BELO
INSET
R TO
REFE

c WSP UK Ltd
PLANNING APPLICATION

1170.000

1160.000

1150.000

1140.000

1130.000

1120.000

1110.000

1100.000

1090.000

1080.000

1070.000

1060.000

1050.000

1040.000

1030.000

1020.000

1010.000

53

F WORK
O
EXTENT

T AB

OVE
INSE
R TO
REFE

Proposed 3m high
acoustic fence

This page is intentionally left blank

1950.000

1960.000

1970.000

2070.940
2070.000

1980.000

1990.000

2000.000

2010.000

2020.000

2030.000

2040.000

2050.000

2060.000

REFER TO DRG NO. 70019939/PLANNING/GA/015
1940.000

REFER TO INSET ABOVE FOR CONTINUATION

REFER TO INSET BELOW FOR CONTINUATION
1760.000

1750.000

1740.000

1730.000

1700.000

1690.000

1680.000

1670.000

1660.000

1650.000

1640.000

1630.000

1620.000

1610.000

1600.000

1590.000

1580.000

1930.000

1920.000

1910.000

1900.000

1890.000

1880.000

1870.000

1860.000

1850.000

1840.000

1830.000

1820.000

1810.000

1800.000

1790.000

c WSP UK Ltd
PLANNING APPLICATION

1570.000

1560.000

1550.000

1540.000

1530.000

1520.000

1510.000

1500.000

1490.000

1480.000

1470.000

1460.000

1450.000

1440.000

REFER TO DRG NO
. 70019939/PLANNIN
G/GA/013

1430.000

1780.000

1770.000

1760.000

Proposed road lighting
column of 10m height
EXTENT OF WORKS

1720.000

1710.000

1420.000

1410.000

1400.000

55

Existing overhead power lines

This page is intentionally left blank

2050.000

2060.000

4

/GA/01
ANNING

TO DRG

NO

2070.940
2070.000

REFER

39/PL
. 700199

57
Proposed road lighting column
of 6m nominal height

Proposed road lighting column
of 8m height

PLANNING APPLICATION

c WSP UK Ltd

This page is intentionally left blank

Arborfield & Newland Parish Council
The Parish Office, Arborfield Village Hall, Eversley Road
Arborfield, Berkshire, RG2 9PQ
Tel: 0118 976 1489
E-mail: parishclerk@arborfield.org.uk
Website: www.arborfield.org.uk
20th September 2017
Nick Chancellor
Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Shute End
Wokingham
Berkshire
RG40 1BN
Dear Nick,
Planning application 172209 – Full application for the construction of a 2.3km Arborfield Cross Relief
Road (including shared use pathway) linking A327 Reading Road in the north and A327 Eversley Road in
the south east. The proposal includes two new roundabout junctions link to the exiting road network
along the A327, a new staggered priority junction at Swallowfield Road and a new shared use (nonmotorised user) bridge where Arborfield Footpath 17 intersects the proposed relief road.

Arborfield and Newland Parish Council welcome the submission of proposals for the construction of the
Arborfield Cross Relief Road, and the opportunity to comment on them. The Council has a number of
concerns, however, that it wishes to see addressed:
• This Council has made representations, repeatedly, about the importance of the mitigation
measures as a means of protecting nearby residents against the negative impacts arising from
operation of this major road, especially in view of the revisions made in 2014 without
consultation. Specifically, we request the reinstatement of 3m high bunds in the Greensward Lane
and Highfield Park areas of the scheme to protect residential properties against increased noise,
as originally approved and promised.
• We have also advised against the adopted staggered crossroads junction at Swallowfield Road,
preferring the original proposal for a roundabout on road safety grounds, notwithstanding the
likely beneficial effect of traffic reduction in Swallowfield Road and across the entrance to
Arborfield Park. A commitment to present an assessment of the roundabout alternative as part of
the Environmental Statement has not been honoured.
• This Council has asked repeatedly for clarification of the proposed traffic operations on the
southern approaches to the scheme, in order to establish the traffic management arrangements
1
Arborfield & Newland Parish Council
Response to planning application 172209 - ACRR

59

•

•

•

•

•

•

necessary to prevent the revised junction arrangements leading to more Arborfield Green traffic
continuing to use the existing A327 through Arborfield Cross village.
The Council is also concerned about the effective operation of 4 roundabouts in close proximity
(Poperinghe, Relief Road, Langley Common, and Biggs Lane), and requests that this combination
be modelled in detail to identify traffic issues associated with future operation.
The proposed speed limit of 50mph is inappropriate for a road with an uncontrolled crossing at
Arborfield Footpath 22, and for a staggered crossroads. The originally adopted proposal for a
40mph speed limit should be restored.
Planting schemes should consist of specimens of reasonable size, so as to reduce to a practical
minimum the period required for the scheme to reach maturity. We note that the long-term
impact of the scheme allows 15 years for development, which is far too long.
Planting proposed for the area between the new southern terminus roundabout and nearby
properties will need to be further reviewed in order to minimise the visual impact of the view
along the new road. A denser planting scheme is needed that provides more effective screening.
Six veteran trees, cherished by the community as important heritage assets, are scheduled for
removal. It would appear, from the scheme drawings, that there is scope to retain some of these
veteran trees, which would require special protection during construction. We urge Wokingham
Borough Council to review this potential.
We further urge Wokingham Borough Council to progress this scheme without delay. The
programmed opening date has slipped by 2 years in the last 4, whilst development of Arborfield
Green and other sites along the A327 continues apace.

Should you have any queries regarding the above please contact me.
Kind Regards

Alison Ward
Parish Clerk

2
Arborfield & Newland Parish Council
Response to planning application 172209 - ACRR

60

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

BPC Clerk and BVH
Nick Chancellor
Relief Road
18 August 2017 14:30:30

Hi Nick,
Comments from Barkham Parish Council – 172209 Arborfield Relief Road.
The Parish Council is not happy with the proposed plans for the southern end of the by-pass.
There will be five roundabouts in very quick succession (Biggs Lane, A327 Bramshill Hunt, The
Relief Road, Poppyfields and the SDL), this is only going to discourage residents from using the
by-pass route. Residents travelling from Watermans View in the direction of Wokingham will
undoubtedly turn right from Biggs Lane into Langley Common Road to avoid all the
roundabouts. Therefore creating a lot of traffic along Langley Common Road. The Parish Council
would like further discussions with WBC as to how to address the situation and if improvements
can be made here.
Regards
Judith Neuhofer
Clerk to Barkham Parish Council

Click here to report this email as spam.

61

This page is intentionally left blank

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

clerk@swallowfieldpc.gov.uk
Planning Enquiries
Wokingham Borough Council Online Planning - Comment
21 September 2017 16:26:42

Application Number: 172209
Name: Swallowfield Parish Council
Address: Parish Office
Swallowfield Street
Swallowfield
Comment Type: Observation
Comment: Swallowfield Parish Council find the plan for the Arborfield Cross Relief Road impacting our Parish
acceptable.
We consider the provision of shared pathways allowing cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders a good addition to
the design.
The green bridge is also a good design feature for the Relief Road.
Also, the provision of badger tunnels providing a crossing point for wildlife another good feature.
We think the imposition of a 50mph speed limit good, and the design of the staggered junction, allowing good
vision and entry runways onto the road.
We feel a staggered junction safer than crossroads, however, as a 50 mph road, we request consideration given
in the Road design for adequate road markings and signage warning of the staggered junction.

63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 71.
ITEM NO:
Development
Management
Ref No
173097

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
12/13
Wargrave

Ward

Listed by:

Remenham,
Wargrave
Ruscombe

Major

Applicant

Mr R Dennis

Location

Strowdes, Kenton Lane, Upper Culham

Proposal

Full application for the erection of 1no dwelling house.

&

Postcode RG10 8NU

Type
Full
PS Category 7
Officer

D Ray

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Planning Committee on 10th January 2018

REPORT PREPARED BY

Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is set partially within a Grade II* Registered Park and Garden
known as Park Place Estate. The whole site, as acquired in 2007, comprised over
220ha, however has since been broken down in to various estates. The Park Place
Estate comprises some 80ha and includes the Grade II Park Place Mansion. The
remaining Estate has since been known as Conway Park estate.
To the north of the application site, a 25ha estate was created comprising house,
grounds and river frontage which is now complete, this is known as Hamilton House and
estate. A further consent was granted for another substantial house called
‘Malmesbury’, however the permission subsequently lapsed and planning permission
was granted for the development of a polo pitch. The ownership of this area was
brought back in to the original Park Place Estate and is now in single ownership.
Previous consents for dwellings in the location of this proposal have been known as
Conway, however this particular phase of development is now known as Strowdes due
to Richard de la Strowde and his family having first created the estate in the mid-13th
Century. The site has now been purchased by a private owner.
Ultimately through the purchase of this land and the desire to develop the site as a
single dwelling for their use as a private family estate is exactly the intention of the
original Outline Consent in 2008 that allowed permission for a number of dwellings
within the Park Place estate as a trade off against the substantial amount of built form
(modern buildings within the estate that were either associated with the former golf
course that was present or modern residential in nature) within the Green Belt that had

65

a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the historic estate and the
openness and function of the Green Belt.
Overall, should planning consent be granted for this dwelling, the overall volume of built
form within the Green Belt would be approximately 18,000 cubic metres less in volume,
than prior to the Park Place project taking place.
The principle of development for a single dwelling is acceptable and in accordance with
the agreed approach to the estate whereby the overall volume of built form within the
estate has reduced. This approach was agreed as part of the Outline application in
2008, the requirement for the reduction in built form was a key principle when
considering the introduction of new dwellings within the Estate.
There are no issues related to flooding, contamination or highways, although conditions
shall be required for SUDS and highways.
The details submitted in relation to the impact of the development on ecology are
expected to be acceptable, with a vast amount of information submitted, however the
final details on the submission of a Landscape and Ecological Maintenance Plan are yet
to be agreed.
The Council’s Tree and Landscaping Section have not objected to the application with
the submitted information demonstrating that the proposed dwelling and associated
planting and formal gardens would not result in an overly dominant structure but instead
blend in well with its surroundings and a large amount of new planting mitigating against
the introduction of built form as well as enhancing the setting of the landscape as whole.
The dwelling itself is a contemporary palladium influenced design ‘is considered
acceptable and in keeping with an ‘estate-like’ dwelling.
Subject to satisfactory comments being received from the Ecology Officer and the
conditions included within the report the proposed development is considered
acceptable.
PLANNING STATUS
 Area of Special Character
 Contaminated Land Zone
 Contaminated Land Consultation Zone
 Countryside
 Bridleways/Byways
 Greenbelt
 Groundwater Protection Zone
 Landfill Gas Consultation Zone
 Listed Building (Adjacent)
 Minerals Consultation Zone
 Registered Park and Garden
 Water Voles/Bats/Badger Consultation Zone
 Local Wildlife Site
 Wind Turbine Safeguarding Area

66

RECOMMENDATION
Subject to no objection being received from the Council’s Ecologist, the application is
recommended for APPROVAL subject to the following conditions and the completion of
a S106 which links a number of ancillary applications to the main dwelling and ensure
that any extant permissions that conflict with this application are not implemented:
1. Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Approved details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered:
P-H-001-XX-003, P-H-001-XX-005, P-H-001-XX-010, P-H-001-XX-003, P-H-001XX-020, P-H-001-XX-030, P-H-001-XX-040¸ P-H-001-XX-045, P-H-001-XX-050, PH-001-XX-060, P-H-003-XX-010, P-H-003-XX-020, P-H-004-XX-010, P-H-004-XX010, P-H-004-XX-020, P-H-004-XX-030, P-H-004-XX-040, P-H-007-XX-010 and
0002-PL1 received by the local planning authority on 20 October 2017. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Materials
Before the development, with the exception of any works comprising the setting for
the dwelling or the creation of foundations to ground slab level and below, hereby
permitted is commenced, samples and details of the materials to be used in the
construction of the external surfaces of the buildings shall have first been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be
carried out in accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Landscaping
Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping, which
shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs to be
planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained. Planting shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details in the first planting and seeding
seasons following the occupation of the building(s). Any trees or plants which,
within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting (or within a period of 5 years
of the occupation of the buildings in the case of retained trees and shrubs) die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species or otherwise as approved in
writing by the local authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06 for garden development)

67

5. Retention of trees and shrubs
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning
authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the
completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees,
shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local planning
authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
6. Protection of trees
a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until an Arboricultural
Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the retention and
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in
accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. No development or other operations shall take place
except in complete accordance with the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred
to as the Approved Scheme).
b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use
of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works
required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids
shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise
protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has
first been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and other
works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
7. Landscape management
Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned,
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as
approved.

68

Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance
of the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
8. Earth mounding and contouring
Prior to the commencement of the development, details of earthworks shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details
shall include the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including the levels
and contours to be formed, showing the relationship of proposed mounding to
existing vegetation and surrounding landform. The Earthworks shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details and permanently so-retained.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity and landscape character of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
9. Archaeology
No development shall take place within the site until the applicant, or their agents or
their successors in title, has secured and implemented a programme of
archaeological work (which may comprise more than one phase of work) in
accordance with the a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
only take place in accordance with the detailed scheme approved pursuant to this
condition.
Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains within the site are adequately
investigated and recorded or preserved in situ in the interest of protecting the
archaeological heritage of the borough.
10. SUDS
No construction shall take place until full details of the drainage system for the site
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The details shall
include:
 A drainage strategy plan for the proposed development, indicating the location of
crates including pipe details with invert levels.
 A maintenance management plan for the SuDS features throughout the lifetime
of the development, as well as who will be responsible for the maintenance.
 Details of the package treatment proposed and confirmation from the EA
regarding the environmental permit.
Reason: This is to prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
11. Permitted Development
Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and G of Part 1 of the
Second Schedule the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no buildings, enlargement or alterations
permitted shall be carried out without the express permission in writing of the local
planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the area, Countryside, Green Belt and
neighbouring amenities. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 (Protecting Green Belt

69

Land, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and CP11, CP12, and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21 and TB01.
12. Lighting
Prior to their installation details of a lighting scheme shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall
include measures to minimise sky glow and light spillage to neighbouring
properties. Such details as may be approved shall be implemented in full before the
first use of the development and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area. Relevant policy: NPPF
Section 7 (Requiring Good Design), Core Strategy policies CP1 & CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.
13. Landscape and Ecological Maintenance Plan
Pending full response from the Council’s Ecologist, however in the absence of the
LEMP being agreed prior to determination, the following condition would be included:
A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be
approved in writing by the local planning authority to the occupation of the
development. The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management
c) Aims and objectives of management
d) Appropriate management of options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being
rolled forward over a five year period)
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which
the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the
management body (ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out how
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so
that the development still delivers the fully function biodiversity objectives of the
originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance
with the approved details.
14. Hours of Work
No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00
Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC06.
15. Parking to be provided
No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking space has been provided in accordance with the approved plans.
The vehicle parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available
for the parking of vehicles at all times.

70

Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 &
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
16. Construction Method Statement
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v) wheel washing facilities,
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.

PLANNING HISTORY
Application No.

Description

Decision

173098

Full application for the proposed erection of
gatehouse with associated parking ancillary to
Strowdes house
Full application for the proposed erection of
estate
management
buildings
including
gardeners accommodation and underground
tunnel linking the estate buildings and ancillary to
the main house on Strowdes estate
Full application for the proposed erection of a
replacement dwelling.
Full application for the erection of 4no single
storey staff units, together with a machinery
shed/parking & associated estate management
store/office to be ancillary to the proposed
Strowdes Estate
Full application for the proposed erection of 3no
estate buildings to serve as estate management,
security offices and stores with associated
parking and alterations to access
Variation to condition 2 (approved drawing
numbers) of reserved matters consent
RM/2011/2275 to allow a change in design and
layout of the dwelling.
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline
Planning Consent O/2008/1353 for the erection
of one dwelling (access appearance landscaping
layout and scale to be considered).

Pending

173100

160131
152499

153077

VAR/2012/2564

RM/2011/2275

71

Pending

Approved
Approved

Approved

Approved

Approved

RM/2010/1237

O/2008/1353

Application for Reserved Matters on Outline Approved
consent O/2008/1353 for the erection of one
Dwelling (Conway Park House). Matters to be
considered
are
Access
Appearance
Landscaping Layout and Scale.
Outline application for the demolition of 8 Approved
dwellings and erection of 5 new dwellings.
Change of use of 3 dwellings to form 2
boathouses
and
guest
accommodation.
Conversion of 2 dwellings to form 1 dwelling.
Alterations to the barns and the bungalow to form
a single residential unit plus alterations and
extensions to existing buildings

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Ecology
Pending
WBC Highways
No objection subject to conditions
WBC Drainage
No objection subject to conditions
WBC Conservation
No objection
WBC Landscape and No objection subject to conditions
Trees
WBC Environmental No objection
Health
Historic England
No objection
Archaeology
No objection subject to condition
REPRESENTATIONS
Parish Council
Ward Member(s)
Neighbours

No objection
No objection/comments received.
None

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP11

Development outside of settlement
limits, including countryside

CP12

Green Belt

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

72

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)

CC04

Sustainable Design & Construction

TB01

Development within the Green Belt

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity

BDG

Borough Design Guide

WPSS

Wokingham Parking Standards Study
Report October 2011

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development:
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
The application site is within the open countryside, within a Grade 2* Historic Park
and Garden, within an Area of Special Landscape Importance and within the
Metropolitan Green Belt. Notwithstanding this, the principle of development of a single
dwelling in this location has already been established under the overarching
masterplan for the site, O/2008/1353. Two Reserved Matters applications were
subsequently submitted and approved for a single dwelling in the location of the
current proposal which are unimplemented and no longer extant. More recently,
planning permission was granted for another large single dwelling (160131), this
consent remains extant however, the applicant has agreed to enter in to a S106 to
ensure that their right to implement this permission is removed.
Development for new dwellings within the Green Belt is considered inappropriate
within the definition of the Green Belt. Notwithstanding this, development for new
dwellings may be acceptable where Very Special Circumstances outweigh the
material harm caused by the development. In this instance, Very Special
Circumstances have been found to exist due to the approach agreed within the
masterplan for the estate as whole. The masterplan outlines the overall net loss in
dwellings and built form across the estate, the removal of unsympathetic buildings
and the restoration of the park land. The removal of these buildings has been secured
under application O/2008/1253.
The location of the proposed dwelling has previously been appraised and is
considered to be in a ‘sensitive and exposed position’ above the Thames Valley.
However the principle of development has been considered acceptable previously
and this remains the case; the specific design, placement and orientation of the
building must be assessed in terms of its impact on the character of the area, the
Registered Historic Park and Green Belt, as well as whether the volume proposed is
within requirements and spirit of Outline Approval O/2008/1253 which agreed the
parameters of the volume of proposed development across the site in relation to the
level of volume of the buildings to be demolished. The current application varies from
applications RM/2011/2275 and the subsequent variation as it is more modern in

73

appearance although, more understated than the grand monolithic flint house that
was approved under 160131.
Traded Volume
With each of the applications made on the estate as a whole, an indicative table is
provided demonstrating the traded volume of buildings altered or demolished against
that of consented and proposed development. This approach was an accepted as an
appropriate means of restoring the Estate and Registered Park whilst improving the
built form within the Green Belt.

Outline Development Total
Additional Land Purchase Total
Total Original Volume
Minimum Acceptable Loss of
Volume
Proposed Overall Volume
Total Reduction in Volume against
agreed loss

Cubic Metres
52677
12994
65671
-9970
40043
-18771

Following further purchases of buildings and land, enlarging the estate the total
volume of buildings has increased since the original purchase of the estate, however
the built form has been reduced overall through different proposals. The original
volume of buildings prior to the restoration of the parkland, Park Place Mansion,
Hamilton House mansion and structures associated with the Polo Pitch Development
in the north of the site was some 65,671 cubic metres of built form (52677 with the
original purchase and a further 12994 purchased later). The proposed mansion has a
proposed volume of 10800 cubic metres, which is an increase in volume of 3009
cubic metres over the most recently approved scheme (application ref: 160131),
however the proposed volume is still significantly lower than that of the ‘predevelopment’ built form, with the combined total volume of re-development over the
entire site having a volume of 40042 cubic metres, some 25,629 cubic metres less
than what was once on the site. The S106 will ensure that any previous consents that
are still extant will not be implemented.
Overall, the proposed trade off of volume is considered acceptable and within the
spirit of the original project and permission that was granted. Notwithstanding this, the
character and appearance of the proposal and its impact on the landscape and all
other material planning considerations need to be assessed.
Impact on the Character of the Area:
A number of applications have been granted planning permissions since 2008 for
dwellings in the proposed location of this current application. These proposals have
granted consent for a range of dwellings in differing styles with vastly different building
parameters. Below are four examples of schemes previously granted consent:

74

3 storey Extant David Chipperfield Architects scheme

3 storey David Chipperfield Architects scheme “with wings”

4 storey David Chipperfield Architects scheme

75

4 storey traditional scheme
The highest development has previously been 13.5m in height, with a width of some
97m and a depth of 52.45m. The latest extant permission, the ‘flint’ house had a
proposed height of 8m, a width of 42.45m and a depth of 52.45m. In comparison, this
development proposes a total height of 13.15m, a width of 60m and a depth of 17m.

Current scheme
These dimensions are proposed by way of a U shaped building, a three storey main
structure with two single storey flanks. Below the building is a basement with gym,
kitchen and swimming pool and car parking proposed, thus keeping the built form
above ground to a minimum. This approach of having underground parking and
useable rooms/accommodation is completely in keeping with the approach at
Hamilton House where parking and services/rooms are underground.
The building has been designed by Foster and Partners and is considered a
contemporary country house that has been designed in the tradition of a historic
Palladian style mansion in terms of proportions, however has been simplified and the
applicant stresses that this is a modernist interpretation and not a “pastiche”. The
result is a structure that appears clean in design, with strong vertical features through
the pillars and large single light windows. The proposed dwelling appears well
proportioned, bringing a modern high quality design with traditional proportions
proposed.
The proposed building is considered to have an improved relationship with the
nearest ‘new’ mansion at Hamilton House in terms of materials proposed (natural pale
stone) with metal windows and other exterior furniture, rather than the use of flint
which whilst positive in its own right, did not relate to the other major built forms within
the park. Unlike Hamilton House, the roof is proposed to be flat, hidden by parapets,
thus minimising its appearance in the landscape.
No objection has been received from the Conservation Officer and Historic England
have also offered no objection to the scheme and the impact that any development
has on the adjacent historic park and garden and wider historic landscape.
Notwithstanding this, the Landscape and Trees Officer requested additional drawings
that presents the building from longer views. These drawings when read in
conjunction with the submitted Landscape Visual Appraisal demonstrate that the
building would sit well within the landscape and not be overly dominant on the park
land. These drawings were submitted and the L&T Officer found the details
acceptable and demonstrated that the dwelling would not have an undue impact on

76

the character and appearance of the site, the wider site, nor the Green Belt as a
whole.
In conclusion the proposed development would sit well within the landscape and not
have a negative impact on the character and appearance of both the immediate and
wider landscape. Little to no public views of the house would be present and, subject
to conditions, the proposed development is acceptable.
Impact on Neighbours:
Due to the location of the proposed building, there would be no overlooking,
overshadowing or overbearing impact as a result of this proposal. The distance of the
proposed dwelling from its nearest neighbour is so great that no issues arise despite
the large scale of the dwelling.
Amenity Space
The dwelling is within a very large estate and there is no concern regarding the level
of amenity space associated with the proposal. Whilst much of the estate is park land,
a formal garden is to be provided directly adjacent to the property without detriment to
the overall openness of the estate.
Highway Issues
Ample parking will be available on site and within the development. No objections
have been raised from in terms of highway safety, as such the proposal is considered
acceptable. The applicant has submitted a Construction Management Plan with
suitable vehicle tracking information provided as well as proposed construction traffic
routes. This has been considered by the Highways team and is acceptable.
Flooding
The site sits in Flood Zone 1, however due to the overall area of the site an FRA was
submitted with the application along with SUDS details. These have been considered
by the Council’s Flooding and Drainage Engineer and is considered acceptable.
Biodiversity
Since the purchase of the property and the subsequent redevelopment of the site and
the restoration of the parkland, huge strides have taken place to restore, enhance and
improve the biodiversity within the site. This has included the strengthening of ancient
woodland, the construction of bat houses, development of ecology positive meadow
grasses, measures to improve habitat for Great Crested Newts including the
development of ponds.
Submitted with the application are appropriate reports and a Landscape and
Ecological Maintenance Plan that continues the theme of providing favourable
conditions and improvements to the site for ecology. This application goes further and
proposes to development a small lavender field as well other park improvements.
This is all acceptable in principle; the ecology officer is currently considering the
Management Plan further and this review, along with an appropriate condition, shall
be provided by way of an update prior to, or at committee.
S106
The applicant is entering in to a S106 which ties a number of planning permissions
(estate management buildings and entrance building) to this planning application that

77

would ensure that all the buildings would be linked to the main dwelling, not to be
used independently and not to be sold off independently as well as ensuring that any
extant permissions are not implemented.
CONCLUSION
The proposed development, is considered to be acceptable. Further comments on the
Estates Management Plan will be provided at your meeting. The proposed application
is therefore recommended for approval subject to the use of conditions and the
satisfactory completion of a S106.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Development
0118 974 6000
Management and
Regulatory Services

Email
development.control@wokingham.gov.uk

78

General Notes
1. Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern.
2. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

3. All levels are in metres unless noted otherwise.
4. All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
5. Foster + Partners shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

6. Any areas indicated on this sheet are approximate and indicative only.

2390

1380

+108.75

FFL +104.32 - Second Floor

Rev.

Date

4800

03/10/17

Planning application

JE

Reason For Issue

Chk

PLANNING APPLICATION
Key Plan

FFL +100.24 - First Floor

01
5375

79
13950

00

FFL +94.80 - Ground Floor

N

FFL +94.20

Denotes Extent of Basement

Pool Pit Provision

Sub Basement Plant Room

© Foster

Partners 2014

Client

Spink Property

Project

Strowdes Estate

Title

Strowdes House
North Elevation

North Elevation

01

1:100

2m

0

2

4m

Project No.

Date

Scale at ISO A0

2617

03/10/2017

1:100

Number

Revision

P-H-004-XX-010

00

This page is intentionally left blank

General Notes
1. Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern.
2. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

3. All levels are in metres unless noted otherwise.
4. All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
5. Foster + Partners shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

6. Any areas indicated on this sheet are approximate and indicative only.

2390

1385

+108.75

00

03/10/17

Rev.

Date

Planning application

JE

Reason For Issue

Chk

81

FFL +104.32 - Second Floor

PLANNING APPLICATION

4800

FFL +100.24 - First Floor

5375

13950

Key Plan

N
01
FFL +94.80 - Ground Floor
FFL +94.20

Denotes Extent of Basement

Sub Basement Plant Room

Pool Pit Provision

© Foster

Partners 2014

Client

Spink Property

Project

Strowdes Estate

Title

Strowdes House
South Elevation

South Elevation

01

1:100

2m

0

2

4m

Project No.

Date

Scale at ISO A0

2617

03/10/2017

1:100

Number

Revision

P-H-004-XX-020

00

This page is intentionally left blank

General Notes
1. Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern.
2. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

3. All levels are in metres unless noted otherwise.
4. All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
5. Foster + Partners shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

6. Any areas indicated on this sheet are approximate and indicative only.

+108.75

Second Floor - FFL +104.32
00

03/10/17

Rev.

Date

Planning application

JE

Reason For Issue

Chk

83

PLANNING APPLICATION
Key Plan

First Floor - FFL +100.24

01
Ground Floor - FFL +94.80

N

FFL +94.20

Garage Access Ramp Behind Courtyard Garden Wall

Bedroom Wing Behind Courtyard Wall Garden

Denotes Extent of Basement

Pool Pit Provision

Sub Basement Plant Room

© Foster

Partners 2014

Client

Spink Property

Project

Strowdes Estate

Title

Strowdes House
West Elevation

West Elevation

01

1:100

2m

0

2

4m

Project No.

Date

Scale at ISO A0

2617

03/10/2017

1:100

Number

Revision

P-H-004-XX-030

00

This page is intentionally left blank

s

m
lha
Cu

s
ce
ac
g
n ay
isti
ex highw
to

ne
La
FARRIERS

5 SEAFORTH
COTTAGE

PADDOCK
COTTAGE

OLD SMITHY HOUSE

UPPER CULHAM FARM
FARMHOUSE

THE COTTAGE
UPPER CULHAM

THE WELL HOUSE

98

.00

Ken

ton's

Lane

THE QUADRANT

YOUNGS FARM

VE

GRA

AR

W
AD

RO
1)

32

(A

W

NK

Planning Issue

07.10.17

Initials

Description

Date

E

V
RA

G
AR

PL1

Issue
AD

RO
1)

32
(A

KENTONS LODGE

Residential Curtilage & Application Site
Ownership Boundary

Ke

nto

n's

La

ne

N

85

Building 4, Brentside Executive Park
Great West Road,
Brentford TW8 9DR

tel. 0208 380 0838
fax 0208 380 0818

Project: Strowdes House

No:

Title:

Site Location Plan

Drawn by:

NK

Date:

OCT 2017

Status:

Planning

Scale:

1:5000@A3

Drwg No:

Issue:

052

0001
PL1

This page is intentionally left blank

